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Letter from the Chair
The series of terrorist atrocities in the United Kingdom in recent months have confronted us
all as senseless attacks on freedom, human dignity and justice. The response in every case
has been one of resilience and defiance, a declaration that such acts cannot be allowed to
undermine the foundations of our society, nor divide us in our local communities. They are a
reminder to us of the truth that we are “One World” and have responsibilities to care for one
another and the world in which we live.
I am pleased to report that the good work of CAFOD continues in some forty of the poorest
countries of the world. While there are some changes and adjustments to our work, CAFOD
believes in the strength of enduring relationships which reach beyond the immediate needs to
partnerships that build progress and confidence.
The diversity of CAFOD’s work was very apparent to me in two recent visits that I have made.
In November 2016, I was privileged to visit Nicaragua and El Salvador. In many ways they are
progressing but the societies are fragile and many groups are left behind in any sense of
sustainable development. In both countries, the legacy of Archbishop Oscar Romero is loudly
promoted and CAFOD is at work with farmers in the rural areas and with marginalised groups
in the towns and cities, promoting sustainable livelihoods in many different ways – but always
with life-changing impact.
In March I was in Niger, the poorest country in the world. As always, as a representative of
CAFOD and its work, I was met with great expressions of gratitude by people who feel that
CAFOD is a friend. The emphasis in Niger is on agriculture, in a country bordering on the
Sahara Desert and dealing with the contradictions of flood and drought. But there is much
activity, too, in the promotion of educational opportunities, particularly for girls.
Both regions are feeling the growing impact of Climate Change. The Dry Corridor in Central
America has established itself in less than a decade and claimed what were formerly the best
agricultural areas. In Niger, it is seen in the continuing encroachment of the desert due to
deforestation.
Good work is certainly being done by CAFOD and its Caritas partners around the world. But
there is much more to be achieved. Despite the decision of President Trump to withdraw The
United States from the Paris Agreement, there is a growing understanding of the need for
collaborative action and a determination to take the appropriate and necessary measures to
care for our common home. Pope Francis has done much to raise concern and his efforts are
being rewarded though we must not allow any sense of complacency to weaken our urgent
resolve to make our world a better place for all.

Rt Rev John Arnold
Bishop of Salford, Chair of the Trustees
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Strategic Report
Objectives and activities
Who are we?
The Catholic Agency for Overseas Development (CAFOD) is the official international aid and
development agency of the Catholic Church in England and Wales, mandated by the Bishops to deliver
its mission on poverty and injustice.
From its roots in actions led by women in Catholic parishes across England and Wales more than 50
years ago, CAFOD has been an expression of the compassion of the Catholic community of England
and Wales and its solidarity with the poorest and most marginalised; regardless of faith, gender, race,
ethnicity or other defining features.
Inspired by the Scriptures and tradition of the Church (particularly Catholic Social Teaching), and driven
by our values, CAFOD works to relieve suffering in crisis situations, to support the poorest and most
marginalised in securing the essential components of a dignified and sustainable life, and to help them
and others to change the structures that keep people poor, oppressed and marginalised.
As part of the Church, CAFOD is mandated to help inform and mobilise the Catholic community in
England and Wales to address issues of poverty and injustice across the world, in ways that also
support transformation in our own lives.

Our vision
Our vision is a world transformed to reflect the Kingdom of God – a world where:






the rights and dignity of every person are respected
all have access to basic needs in life
women and men share equally in shaping their societies and our world
the gifts of creation are nurtured and shared by all for the common good
the structures that shape people’s lives are just, and enable peace.

Our mission
Together with our partners and the global Caritas family we:





work with poor and disadvantaged communities in the global South to overcome poverty and
bring about sustainable development and wellbeing
protect lives and relieve suffering during emergencies; reduce the risks to vulnerable
communities that result from conflict and natural disasters
raise awareness and understanding of the causes of poverty and injustice to inspire a
commitment to lasting change
challenge those with power to adopt policies and behaviour that promote social justice and end
poverty.

To fulfil this fourfold mission, we raise funds and mobilise action from the Catholic community and
beyond.
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Our values


Compassion - Confronted by global poverty and suffering, our fundamental response is
compassion rooted in love. We refuse to accept the suffering of our brothers and sisters and
we are compelled to take action to alleviate it.



Dignity - We believe in the intrinsic dignity of every person. We work with all people regardless
of race, gender, religion or politics. We try always to be an inclusive and diverse organisation,
which celebrates difference and creates relationships of mutual respect.



Solidarity - We walk alongside poor and disadvantaged communities, making their cause our
cause, uniting in action and prayer. We share our resources, and we work together to challenge
the policies and systems that keep people poor, so that the whole of humanity can flourish.



Hope - Our hope is inspired by Christian faith and the strength and resourcefulness of our
partners and the people whom they serve. In the knowledge that Christian hope is not passive,
we believe that, by working together, a better world can and must be achieved so that all can
enjoy the fullness of life.



Partnership - We build links between poor communities overseas and the Catholic community
in England and Wales. We work alongside our partners at home and overseas, acknowledging
that we receive as well as give. We work within, and beyond, our wider Catholic family, seeking
justice to change our world for the better.



Sustainability - We recognise the intimate relationship between protecting and sustaining the
environment and promoting human development. We aim to take proper account of ecological
sustainability in our work and in our lifestyle, believing we are enriched by living simply.



Stewardship - We strive to be good stewards of all the resources entrusted to us. We
endeavour to be openly accountable for our work, transparent in our decision making, focusing
on positive change through systematically evaluating our impact and effectiveness.

Strategies for achieving our stated aims and objectives
The objectives set out within the governing document are standard charitable objectives to allow
CAFOD to undertake the full range of charitable activities. These objectives are:






the relief of poverty throughout the world
the advancement of education throughout the world
the advancement of the Christian Religion throughout the world
the relief and prevention of sickness, disease and physical or mental disability throughout the
world
and such other charitable purposes anywhere in the world as are for the benefit of the United
Kingdom community.

In order to achieve these aims and objectives:
We work in more than 40 countries worldwide; supporting over 300 partners who work with local
communities in the global South. We work on behalf of the Catholic community in England and Wales
who commit to building a more just and equitable world through prayer, action, giving and reflection.
We are a member of Caritas Internationalis; a group of over 160 Catholic sister agencies across the
world, known as ‘the helping hand of the Church’. Together we strive to eradicate poverty, to address
and challenge its root causes and to empower people to bring about change for themselves. Our
strategic framework, ‘Just One World’, sets out how we intend to make our vision a reality.
Working with people of all faiths and none, we work to support the poorest and most disadvantaged
to access and positively influence the resources, environments and decisions that affect their lives and
the world around them.
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We believe that supporting the localisation of aid is an essential aspect of ‘shifting the power’ in
favour of the poorest and most disadvantaged communities. This includes increasing the resources
placed in the hands of those closest to the point of intervention, combined with a strengthened
capacity of local partners and other actors to make best use of the resources for the benefit of the
poorest people.
We believe that channelling resources to support the poorest and most disadvantaged must be
combined with increasing awareness and influencing skills amongst those active in civil society who
are committed to the common good, if unjust systems and structures and the broken relationships that
sustain them are to be transformed.
CAFOD works in partnership with hundreds of Church, secular and other faith organisations across
the world to achieve positive change at all levels of society and to maximise the benefits offered by the
vast capillary systems of the Church and other faith and civil society networks, at the points of greatest
need. Working in partnership is a primary expression of solidarity and the healing power of relationships
in transforming our world.
As a part of the Catholic community of England and Wales CAFOD is part of the Church’s mission.
We will promote active and prayerful participation in every parish and Catholic School and with the
individuals who support CAFOD, to raise awareness, take action and resource our shared mission.
Given the challenges facing the world over the coming decade, the need for effective communities of
change makers working to defeat poverty and injustice will only increase. As part of strong Catholic
movements in support of positive change for the poorest and for the earth, CAFOD will play an active
role within the Catholic community internationally and in England and Wales, and in our role as a Caritas
agency.
The call to healing relationships extends to the earth and all parts of creation. The strategies we
adopt and the ways in which we work must reflect the needs of the earth and the interconnectedness
of all creation (Laudato Si’, Ch. 4, Integral ecology) in the achievement of authentic human
development.

Criteria and measures of success
We measure our success in achieving these aims and objectives through regular reporting against the
outcomes set in CAFOD’s strategic framework ‘Just One World’, which we refreshed at the end of
2015/16. We utilise a combination of assessment against specific metrics and targets and the use of
qualitative evidence provided through stories from our partners and the communities we work with. Our
key achievements in 2016/17 are included in the ‘Achievements and performance’ section of our
Strategic Report starting on page 8.

Grant making Policy
The majority of CAFOD’s charitable work is carried out by making grants to partner organisations.
Grants are made within long term strategies agreed with our partners. Grants for development
programmes are often made on a three-year basis.
Before individual grants are made, project proposals are subject to a formal assessment and approval.
All projects are systematically monitored for the duration of their existence, and major projects are
subject to a final evaluation review.

Working with volunteers
CAFOD is grateful for the support and commitment of nearly 6,000 volunteers in England and Wales
and the many volunteers working alongside our international partners. These partnerships, in support
of CAFOD’s work, embody and exemplify solidarity and interconnectedness as well as good
stewardship. A conservative estimate of the financial value of volunteering to CAFOD’s work in England
and Wales alone is several hundreds of thousands of pounds.
5
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How we have lived our values
Compassion
In Ethiopia the CAFOD, SCIAF and Trocaire collaboration continued and
CAFOD raised over £1 million from supporters to address the effects of the El
Nino Crisis.

Dignity
In White Nile water supply systems were upgraded and all installations (priming
pumps and pipelines) completed, serving 18,000 people. In addition, 1,210
latrines in 6 refugee villages have been rehabilitated, serving over 24,000
people, with hygiene and weekly camp cleans carried out, reaching 29,778
people.

Partnership
The number of volunteers that give their time to CAFOD grew to 5,770 in
2016/17.

Stewardship
Most recent research amongst Mass-going Catholics showed that 91% of
supporters trust us a ‘great deal’ or ‘quite a lot’.

Hope
CAFOD’s office in Managua has joined forces with sister agencies, Trocaire,
Caritas Suisse and CRS to support the Bishops of Nicaragua in their efforts to
spread the messages of Laudato Si’ within the national community and in a
context of extreme vulnerability to climate variation.

Sustainability
CAFOD has been supporting partners in five countries to engage in advocacy
on SDG implementation, including two church partners at both national and
local level (Caritas agencies in DRC and Sierra Leone as well as partners in
Zimbabwe, Bolivia and Bangladesh).

Solidarity
35,304 messages of hope for refugees were received in response to our
Lampedusa Cross action.
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Achievements and performance
CAFOD’s strategic framework ‘Just One World’ sets out four aims for our work to 2020; here we report
back on some of the main outcomes to date.

Aim 1 - Increasing power and influence of the poorest and most disadvantaged
communities so they can influence the systems, decisions and resources
affecting them, living under governments, institutions and global structures that
are just and accountable.
Laudato Si’ will have influenced the Catholic Community in their view of, and their role in,
bringing about progress.
Good progress has been made with sharing the message of Laudato Si’ with the wider Catholic
community, informing and influencing their role in redefining progress. Over 150 volunteers have been
trained in the primary and secondary schools’ volunteer sessions on Laudato Si’. In addition, 318
volunteer-led Laudato Si’ sessions have been delivered. The Laudato Si’ page on
CAFODvolunteer.com has been viewed 1,784 times since its launch in September 2016, making it the
most viewed page on the volunteers’ website for the last 12 months. CAFOD had a strong presence
at the Flame Youth event in London, sharing with 9,000 young people the message of Laudato Si’ and
how they can implement this in their lives.
CAFOD and CIDSE (International Co-operation for Development and Solidarity) have developed a
Laudato Si’ principles paper to increase the ambition and implementation of the the Paris Climate
Agreement at national levels. We are working with the Holy See and this is likely to be published in
November 2017.
CAFOD has coordinated a group of around 20 Catholic church agencies to produce a guide on how
the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and Laudato Si’are linked. This will be published in
September 2017 and will support Catholic agencies to undertake national level advocacy to ensure
effective implementation of the SDGs and the Leave no-one behind principle.
“Teacher in Service” training on Laudato Si’ has been delivered to 261 Secondary teachers and 362
Primary teachers. Our Laudato Si’ education resources are in constant demand from partners and
other Catholic agencies around the world. Requests in the final quarter of 2016/17 include requests
from the Philippines and the United States of America. Resources shared through both these networks
have the potential to reach millions of Catholics.
This year 150 of our supporters have switched their energy supplier to Ecotricity, Britain’s leading
Green Energy company. We exceeded our target for LiveSimply Community Award registrations and
awards.
Women and men living in poverty will have greater access to clean energy.
Nick Hurd, Minster in the Department for International Development (DFID), praised CAFOD’s Power
to the People campaign, asking for more spending on energy access for overseas communities. The
ministerial team changed after the EU referendum, and concrete policy change slowed down. However,
we have continued to work constructively with civil servants.
We published excellent joint research with The Overseas Development Institute (ODI) on UK continuing
support for fossil fuels in developing countries rather than the renewable energy needed to take poor
communities out of energy poverty). This resulted in constructive meetings across the different
government departments involved and were told it had spurred DFID to carry out a mapping of energy
access support and of reporting gaps. The report, “Beyond Coal, scaling up clean energy to fight global
poverty”, produced with Oxfam, Christian Aid and other partners was an important contribution in
thinking how to tackle poor communities lack of energy. It was widely picked up in the media and
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external stakeholders, including the World Coal Association, who recognised that coal will not end
energy poverty. CAFOD continues to advocate for a for a quick and clear transition from fossil fuel to
renewable energy access for poor communities.
CAFOD has successfully influenced policy change on business reporting in the UK. The UK
transposition of the EU Non-Financial Reporting directive in January 2017 delivers a better legal
framework for public reporting of risks and impacts of business operations in terms of human rights.
We helped to influence how BEIS transposed the Directive through our contacts with civil servants and
companies via the British Retail Consortium. Brexit offers a new opportunity for engagement around
the role of business in society. CAFOD and partners are bringing our expertise to this debate.
DFID’s Economic Development Strategy mentioned quality jobs for the first time, after extensive
lobbying from CAFOD and other BOND (UK International Development network) members. This is a
small step, but we are starting to change the narrative. This has been a hard process to influence but
the Economic Development Directorate became more open to engagement with NGOs (NonGovernmental Organisations) in early 2017. We are scoping further work with partners around jobs
and livelihoods to influence donor and national government policies.
Governance and human rights issues in the global South, especially in African countries, will
have improved, due to the intervention of the Catholic Church.
Good progress has been made with our partners in the global South, especially in Africa.
CAFOD has supported eight southern partners to engage in increased national level advocacy on the
SDGs, five of them leading their national Civil Society Coalitions (CSOs) and engaging regularly with
their government. The majority of these are with the Caritas International (CI) confederation. For
example, Caritas Ghana successfully led the Caritas Internationalis delegation at the UN to the High
Level Political Forum. Caritas Sierra Leone led the shadow reporting process in Sierra Leone on SDG
implementation and has regular engagement with the Sierra Leone government. Caritas Kenya is
planning a monitoring report and has regular engagement with their government. CAFOD has also
supported Caritas Internationalis and Caritas Europa to strengthen the network on SDGs largely
through a refreshed CI Working Group on SDGs with a strong southern engagement. CAFOD has
committed to ongoing support on the SDGs in 2017/18 in five countries, including five Caritas agencies
from Democratic Republic of Congo, Sierra Leone, Zambia, Ghana and Kenya. Two partners have
secured additional external funding for this work.
We have built strong links with CAFOD partners and programmes to carry out joint lobbying at EU and
UN level with our partners from Colombia and DRC, and developed our strategic thinking around the
global treaty on business and human rights. There was a successful EU legal seminar on developing
a binding treaty on business and human rights with participation from our Colombian partner Tierra
Digna. This fed into discussions with MEPs, the EU Commission and the Chair of the Working Group
on the treaty, as well as into the joint CIDSE/Treaty Alliance written submission to the Intergovernmental
Working Group.
We have completed our climate compatible energy pathways research in Kenya working with the
University of California (Berkeley). We held a workshop in Nairobi with nine partners from Kenya and
Uganda to discuss the findings of the research and we are now working with the partners on potential
next steps, including publication of the research in Kenya and advocacy around this. We will be working
with partners in Kenya, Bangladesh and Zambia on future advocacy work around climate change.
CAFOD has hosted and coordinated the ACCESS (Alliance of Civil Society Organisations) Coalition
since 2015 and in the last year it has almost doubled its membership - from 26 to 49 members. ACCESS
has consolidated its international presence and reach. The Coalition Secretariat and members were
invited to take part in stakeholder consultations by various global bodies, including Sustainable Energy
for All, the International Energy Agency on their upcoming World Energy Outlook report, and the Africa
EU Energy Partnership stakeholder workshop in Zambia in January 2017. ACCESS also obtained
funding from the Wallace Global Fund to support further activities in 2017.
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CAFOD has maintained a significant influence in key coalitions that are central to our work and to the
effectiveness of the wider sector:
-

-

UK Aid Network (UKAN) – as a member of the Board, CAFOD has supported UKAN to be fully
funded for 2016/17, to step up the in-depth analysis and information provision; to continue to broker
key DFID relationships for the sector and to employ a researcher to lead on developing their flagship
State of the UK Aid report which is finished and will be launched post general election.
The Climate Coalition – continued to Chair this influential coalition bringing together over 130
diverse organisations.
CIDSE – engaged constructively with CIDSE (International Co-operation for Development and
Solidarity) and their new strategic direction for joint work and have committed to joint work on energy
access, climate and business and human rights.
Shine – CAFOD was part of the Interim Steering Committee for Shine – a campaign on global
energy access - helping the campaign to focus on poorer countries and to ensure developing
country voice from the start.
Caritas Internationalis (CI) and Caritas Europa (CE) – despite stepping down from coordinating
the CI SDG working group, CAFOD is still actively engaged with both CI and CE pushing for a
stronger focus on southern Caritas agency advocacy.
Green Economy Coalition – CAFOD is coordinating the Green Must be Fair workstream and
hoping to galvanize collective action and funding going forward.
ACCESS Coalition – CAFOD coordinates this coalition of nearly 50 Civil Society Organisations.

Case Study 1 - CAFOD and partners’ advocacy work on United Nations Sustainable
Development Goals (SDGs)
A new consensus on international development
The SDGs represent a new consensus on international development and have an ambitious agenda to
eradicate poverty, protect the environment, tackle inequality and leave no-one behind. All governments
will have to implement the agreement over the next 15 years. They include goals on tackling climate
change and providing access to sustainable energy, both of which CAFOD and partners did extensive
lobbying on at national and international level.
The SDGs were also developed in a much more participatory way than the previous Millennium
Development Goals (MDGs) and require participatory implementation. Over the past four years CAFOD
has played a leading global role in galvanising civil society participation through forming, co-chairing
and being on the steering committee of Beyond 2015, which started as a coalition of five agencies in
2011 and ended up with over 1400 civil society member organisations. The participatory process of
agreeing the SDGs has now been seen as a model for other international negotiations. We have
supported conversations to make sure the follow up coordination (through Together 2030) has a strong
national focus and isn’t biased towards New York dominance and coordination mechanisms.
Mobilising the International Catholic Network
CAFOD also initiated the Caritas Internationalis (CI) post-2015 Working Group, which includes over 20
Caritas Agencies involved in national level lobbying. The Working Group produced joint position papers,
elements of which were reflected in the final agreement. It has produced a guide for Caritas Agencies
on engaging in the implementation of the SDGs, which has been promoted by other networks.
This model of working has been empowering for other members, supporting them to work on their own
priorities at national level as well as speak at international level e.g. Caritas Ghana, Nigeria and Kenya
who have all put on national events with their governments and spoken at UN meetings.
Moving the focus to national level implementation
Governments are expected to develop national plans for implementing the SDGs with the participation
of civil society groups. They are likely to have significant influence on a country’s policies and resource
allocation as well as donor priorities and funding. There will therefore be significant opportunities for
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civil society groups, including Catholic groups, to engage in advocacy for effective implementation of
the SDGs as well to engage critically to improve them.
CAFOD has been supporting partners in five countries to engage in advocacy on SDG implementation,
including two church partners at both national and local level (Caritas agencies in DRC and Sierra
Leone as well as partners in Zimbabwe, Bolivia and Bangladesh). This has involved training and
technical support, as well as developing materials including two short animations in English, French
and Spanish.
The initial impact has been significant. Caritas Sierra Leone is coordinating a coalition of NGOs who
have produced a report on SDG implementation that was annexed to the government’s official report
and they are engaged in ongoing discussions with the government. The Caritas Director spoke at
various events in New York during the first stocktake of SDG implementation. Caritas Congo are leading
a civil society coalition in DRC and training local Caritas agencies to engage with local government.
Action on Disability and Development in Bangladesh are developing proposals for the inclusion of
marginalised groups and Poverty Reduction Forum Trust in Zimbabwe are training journalists to hold
the government to account for SDG implementation.
Looking ahead
A future priority is to support partners to access funding for SDG implementation at national level, both
at programmatic level (e.g. links to sustainable agriculture, employment creation, energy access,
health-care provision) and advocacy level.
We plan to produce a short theological analysis of the SDGs from the perspective of Catholic Social
Teaching, including Laudato Si’ to give Catholic development agencies the confidence and tools to
engage with SDG implementation based on Catholic identity and values. For example, how ‘leave noone behind’ links to the Preferential Option for the Poor, how ‘participation’ links to Pope Francis’ call
for dialogue. We hope to do this in coordination with partners such as REPAM (Red Eclesial
PanAmazonica), SECAM (Symposium of Episcopal Conferences of Africa and Madagascar), National
Caritas Agencies, Trocaire etc.

Aim 2 - Promoting long term positive change, so that women and men in the
poorest and most disadvantaged communities live sustainably and with dignity.
Southern based partners will have strengthened capacity, so that they can deliver effective &
accountable programmes.
We have worked with a number of partners around strengthening their capacity in various areas
including safeguarding and child protection, accountability and gender. Specific examples include:
Zambia (Child Protection)
The ZEC (Zimbabwe Electoral Commission) Child Protection Policy is in place, and being actively
implemented at all levels of the Church in Zambia. The Zambia Bishops Conference, during their second
quarter meeting of 2016, approved the Child Protection Policy that was drafted with financial and
technical support from CAFOD. A proposal for the roll-out of the Child Protection Policy was discussed
between the Zambia Conference of the Catholic Bishops and CAFOD, and activities for the roll-out
commenced at the start of the fourth quarter, with an allocation of £25,000 from CAFOD. The key
activities being implemented included:
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and their Parishes;
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East Africa (Accountability)
Nine partners were supported to develop their accountability capacity, in terms of effective response to
context-specific needs. Three UK Aid Match programme partners (Caritas Kitui, Marsabit and Maralal)
shared evidence of success in Voice & Accountability – they advocated for citizen participation in
budget-making in the counties and subsequently were recognised and invited to participate as
stakeholders in the county steering group. Advocacy groups were also invited to give views in the
budget making process. Kenya Catholic Justice & Peace Commission (CJPC) members from Bungoma
County presented a memorandum to the national Senate on accountability within their County.
Bolivia (Gender)
Ten partners in Bolivia have incorporated a gender focus into their projects and improved their
institutional policies regarding gender. A workshop was held in June 2016, attended by staff from nine
partners, to support technical staff working on CAFOD projects to incorporate a gender focus in their
project design, implementation, monitoring and evaluation.
Individualised capacity development plans for strategic partners will be gradually introduced
following joint assessments with partners and investment in their capacity strengthening.
We have also made progress to gradually introduce individualised capacity development plans for
strategic partners following joint assessments with partners and investment in their capacity
strengthening. Specific examples include:
Sri Lanka
Individual capacity strengthening plans for two Sri Lankan partners on programme cycle management
have been developed. An outline framework and monitoring plan for capacity strengthening of Sri Lanka
partners was developed in five areas (report presentation, linking finance and programme management
in Programme Cycle Management, Monitoring, Evaluation & Learning systems, Board function, and
succession planning). A capacity strengthening plan template was developed, and a plan for five
partners (including baseline, action plan) was completed. There was ongoing monitoring of capacity
strengthening plans and assessment of progress throughout the year. The Sri Lanka Programme
Accompanier organised a workshop with partners to give feedback on reports and discuss how to
continue improving in the future.
Brazil
A strategic communications capacity strengthening plan has been developed for Brazilian partners to
increase advocacy engagement, strategic networking and mobilisation capacity. This was the second
year of this EU project and good progress has been made. A Year 2 baseline was completed and
capacity building activities are proceeding well. The project successfully articulated its key campaign
messages, such as 'No Less Rights', with other Social movements in response to the constitutional
crisis in Brazil. Accompaniment of partners supported them to speak out against the destruction of the
public health system and proposed changes to constitutional social rights. At local level, increased
participation by community health agents and leaders and dialogue with authorities was seen, as a
result of the Project's training courses and accompaniment of local action groups. In each of the three
local project areas there was at least one improvement in local health provision as a result of
participants' practical application of their learning. CAFOD continues to closely accompany Grito, the
main implementing partner, to develop fit-for-purpose administrative, financial, Monitoring and
Evaluation reporting systems, develop accountability and complaints mechanisms, and support conflict
mediation.
East Africa
Individualised capacity development plans for nine strategic partners have gradually been introduced,
following joint assessments with partners and investment in capacity strengthening. Partners capacity
strengthening on Monitoring and Evaluation was undertaken with Mombasa Archdiocese. Four
strategic partners (Caritas Marsabit, Maralal, Isiolo and Kitui) were supported in budgeting, journal
entry and finance documentation. CAFOD supported an action-planning process for Caritas Homabay,
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and Mombasa Diocese has been trained on fundraising and security management. The process of
strategic plan consultation with the community is ongoing.
CAFOD Country Strategies will continue to be jointly developed and implemented with
meaningful input from strategic partners and with demonstrated evidence of impact and
change.
Work has been ongoing to ensure that CAFOD Country Strategies effectively integrate long-term
development, advocacy and emergency response work with the intention of bringing about positive
changes in the lives of people living in poverty and affected by inequality at individual, societal and
systemic levels. One example of this is in Sudan, where two integrated programmes for the Sudan
programme were developed. One programme was developed in White Nile state providing a full
package of Water, Sanitation & Hygiene (WASH) and Education, and planning to provide Food
Security & Livelihood (FSL) services to the same communities with funding from UNHCR (United
Nations High Commissioner for Refugees) for South Sudanese refugees and the host communities.
The other integrated programme was developed in South Kordofan state through two different
consortia, targeting Internally Displaced People and host communities. The WASH component in
South Kordofan conducted a KAP (Knowledge, Attitudes & Practice) survey, and did technical
assessments for water points which will be set up by the project. Under the FSL programme in South
Kordofan 1,500 Households were supported with farm inputs (seeds), and 750 households received
farming tools (a hand hoe and rake). In White Nile one water supply system was upgraded and all
installations (priming pumps and pipelines) completed, serving 18,000 people. 1,210 latrines in 6
refugee villages have been rehabilitated, serving over 24,000 people. In addition, hygiene and weekly
camp cleans were carried out, reaching 29,778 people.
New Country Strategies were also developed for Bangladesh, Cambodia, Nigeria and Zambia.
Laudato Si’ will influence and inform development
programmes/outcomes for people living in poverty.

and

implementation

of

our

Two geographical regions were highlighted by Pope Francis in Laudato Si’: the Amazon rainforest and
the Equatorial rainforest of the Congo River Basin.
The impact of Laudato Si’ on the work of partners in Latin America preceded the publication of the
encyclical itself, and it was enriched by contributions from CAFOD’s partners in the Church in the region.
Nowhere is this demonstrated more clearly than in the work of REPAM, the Pan-Amazon Church
Network. REPAM is a joint initiative of partners in 9 countries – Bishops’ Conferences, Caritas
organisations and religious congregations - to unify efforts to strengthen the Church’s witness and
advocate for the protection and preservation of the region’s ecology. CAFOD supported the setting up
of REPAM and has contributed to its work in a number of ways:


to counter the destructive impacts of extractive industries and mining on the flora, fauna and
people of the region through presentation of cases of human rights violations in the InterAmerican Human Rights Commission



to spread the word of Laudato Si’ through the production of radio series – in Spanish,
Portuguese and English. These have adapted the key messages of the encyclical, making
them accessible to communities throughout the region in simple and entertaining format.



REPAM’s example has inspired Church leadership in the Democratic Republic of Congo to
replicate the experience. CAFOD is currently organising a joint visit to the Amazon region for
a delegation of Church leaders from the Congo, to learn how the lessons can be adapted for
the African context.

At a local level CAFOD’s office in Managua has joined forces with sister agencies, Trocaire, Caritas
Suisse and CRS (Catholic Relief Services) to support the Bishops of Nicaragua in their efforts to spread
the messages of Laudato Si’ within the national community and in a context of extreme vulnerability to
climate variation. In addition, we are working with partners across Central America – El Salvador,
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Guatemala, Honduras and Nicaragua - to enable poor communities to monitor the local impacts of
climate unpredictability and to strengthen their resilience in the face of this.
Case Study 2 - CAFOD’s work in South Sudan
CAFOD has had a long-standing engagement in Sudan since the 1970s (with an office in Juba since
2007). In 2014, it was decided to establish a joint office ‘CAFOD and Trocaire in Partnership’ (CTP), to
promote synergies across the CAFOD and Trocaire programmes, while ensuring a continued ownership
of the South Sudan programme. The two agencies merged in South Sudan in April 2015 (with CAFOD
taking on role as “lead agency”). The purpose of the merger was to:







Improve and streamline engagement with the Church and other partners;
Reduced spending on management, administration and support costs, and increase spending
on programmes;
Increased programme scale and impact, primarily resourced by institutional and appeal
funding;
Opportunities for learning within and between both agencies;
Stronger advocacy and campaigning linkages between South Sudan and both agencies global
networks.
Increased policy influence with Irish Aid and the UK’s DFID, and within the Caritas and CIDSE
networks locally.

A new Country Strategy Paper has been jointly developed by the two agencies and rolled out focussing
on four key areas of work:
1. Humanitarian preparedness and response Humanitarian interventions were initially
focused in Upper Nile state but due to instability following the area becoming a war-zone, it
became impossible for civilians to remain and for NGO partners to work. Humanitarian focus
shifted to Yirol in Unity State, where IDPs (Internally Displaced People) were able to settle
in peace. Short-term support was also provided to partners in Juba and to Caritas Yei during
the height of the crisis in the first quarter of 2014 and again since July 2016.
2. Governance and Peacebuilding initiatives have been supported primarily in Rumbeck,
Wau and Central Equatoria - Juba, with support provided to the Catholic Bishops
Conference Catholic Justice and Peace Commissions (at national and diocesan levels), the
Catholic Radio network and South Sudan Council of Churches secretariat.
3. Capacity Strengthening of strategic partners (Catholic Bishops Conference Secretariat,
South Sudan Council of Churches Secretariat, Caritas South Sudan and National Justice
and Peace Commission)
4. Livelihoods with the continuing fragility of South Sudan, with conflict areas increasing into
areas previously at peace, it is very difficult to deliver proactive livelihood programmes.
However, we remain flexible to provide livelihood recovery support alongside emergency
response work until such a time the environment allows.
The situation is constantly changing and we are flexible in our approach to remain relevant. Our primary
support is through the Church bodies in South Sudan, but we also recognise that they too are suffering
from the conflict and we support them to strengthen their own capacity so that they can be a positive
voice to the people.

Aim 3 - Achieving peace, security and recovery so that the poorest and most
disadvantaged communities live in a safe and secure environment, and are able
to minimise, survive and recover from crises.
CAFOD will respond to new and ongoing emergencies in a timely and effective manner.

13

Catholic Agency for Overseas Development

Trustees’ Report for the year ended 31 March 2017
This year we received 40 deployment requests to respond to new and on-going emergencies. The
majority of these requests (31 deployments - 77.5%) were carried out in a timely manner, with the
remaining requests either being withdrawn or not agreed for a variety of reasons. Of the 40 requests
made, 22 (55%) came from our own teams internally at CAFOD; 10 (25%) were made by Interagency
Agreement members; 3 (7.5%) were made by national Caritas Member Organisations through Caritas
Internationalis and 5 (12.5%) were made by joint offices (with our partners Trocaire and SCIAF
(Scottish Catholic International Aid Fund)).
Deployment countries included Nepal (6), Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) (2), Sudan (2), South
Sudan (7), Ethiopia (3), Kenya (3), Nigeria (3), Syria (2), The Philippines, Pakistan, Haiti and Mali.
Nearly 20% of deployments were made to Asia, Middle East and Latin American countries, with 80%
to African countries. Around 42% of deployments were to conflict affected countries and 22% of
deployments were made in support of drought. Of the 31 deployments carried out, the top 3 requests
for support were in the areas of Water, Sanitation and Hygiene (WASH) (8), Monitoring & Evaluation
(M&E) (6), and programme support (5). Other areas of support included emergency response, funding
support, capacity development, protection, programme management and proposal development.
Southern humanitarian organisations will strengthen their capacity to lead, influence, prepare
for and deliver emergency responses.
CAFOD is leading the START Network Shifting the Power project in DRC and Ethiopia. In addition,
CAFOD has been providing technical support on capacity strengthening in Kenya and to the overall
programme. The project has made strong progress despite a slow start, it is actively engaging and
contributing to the localisation agenda in all the five countries. Globally all 55 partner organisations
have successfully completed their capacity strengthening plans for the first year and have reported a
positive shift against the prioritised indicators of the SHAPE (Strategic Humanitarian Assessment &
Participatory Empowerment) framework. Humanitarian strategies were developed and organisational
systems to support humanitarian work were put in place or strengthened alongside building staff
competencies. Commitment to coordination and collaboration with relevant stakeholders was made
and policy and advocacy engagement were initiated. On preparedness and response, organisational
emergency preparedness plans were developed with some partners also contributing to or supporting
in local government-led contingency and response planning.
A total of 25 partner organisations responded or are currently responding to various emergencies from
conflict displacements in DRC, flooding in Pakistan and Bangladesh, and the most recent drought in
Kenya and Ethiopia. They participated in multi-agency and multi-sector assessments and developed
successful emergency response proposals with some securing funding from country pooled funds and
institutional donors for the first time.
CAFOD will lead increased collaboration and building of alliances through Caritas, START, and
other INGOs so that we can respond more effectively to emergencies.
CAFOD has successfully joined efforts with SCIAF in the Syria crisis programme, where the two
agencies will lead and implement programmes together until December 2020 under the partnership
“CAFOD and SCIAF in Partnership for the Syria Crisis” which started in October 2016. CAFOD has also
joined efforts with Caritas Luxembourg, Secours Catholique-Caritas France, Catholic Relief Services
(CRS) (US) and Caritas Norway to effectively implement projects inside Syria (including within Aleppo).
CAFOD has successfully supported Caritas Bangladesh and Caritas Sri Lanka in becoming full
members of the START network. This has had, as an immediate consequence, the possibility for Caritas
Bangladesh to access directly the first ever START Fund grant (first time for a national NGO to be
awarded a grant from the START Fund).
Our partnership with Trocaire for the response to the earthquakes in Nepal continues smoothly. We are
also partnering successfully with Cordaid, CRS and Caritas Switzerland, Caritas Norway and Caritas
Nepal. The Philippines programme, coming towards its conclusion, has witnessed the successful
partnership with CRS, Cordaid, Caritas Switzerland and Caritas Philippines. The humanitarian
response in Yemen, through the DEC (Disaster Emergencies Committee) appeal and CAFOD appeal
funds, has witnessed the successful partnership with a prominent non-Caritas INGO, among the few to
be able to implement projects inside Yemen. The refugee crisis has seen the effective response of
CAFOD in Greece supporting Caritas Hellas but also joining efforts with CRS and Caritas Switzerland.
14
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Our work through diversified alliances continued to develop in 2016/17 and will become stronger in
2017/18 with some planned partnerships with like-minded Caritas agencies to prepare ourselves to
respond more effectively to emergencies.
In Ethiopia the CAFOD, SCIAF and Trocaire collaboration continued and CAFOD raised over £1 million
from supporters to address the effects of the El Nino Crisis. In Zimbabwe, CAFOD supported the
national office of Caritas Zimbabwe with the development of an appeal providing school feeding and
cash support to people affected by El Nino. In South Sudan, CAFOD working with Trocaire, continued
to provide humanitarian assistance to people affected by the conflict in South Sudan; a process that
accelerated with the launch of the DEC appeal in March 2017. The ground work for a broader response
to drought and (in some countries), conflict affected communities, in East Africa, was launched in March
2017 through the DEC and a CAFOD appeal focusing primarily on Somalia, Ethiopia, South Sudan and
Kenya. In Somalia, CAFOD will work with Trocaire and CRS. In Kenya, CAFOD led a START initiative
involving over 20 NGO’s to carry out an assessment of the impact of the drought.
In Nigeria, CAFOD initiated collaboration in North East Borno State with CRS, Caritas Czech and
Caritas Norway to respond to the needs of those affected by the ongoing Boko Haram conflict. CAFOD
was also successful in securing funds through ECHO to support capacity building initiatives through a
network of local NGO’s, the NEAR (Network for Empowered Aid Response) Network. This two-year
project is co-funded by OFDA (Office of US Foreign Disaster Assistance) through ADESO (African
Development Solutions). In Darfur, Sudan, the collaboration with the ACT Alliance (a global alliance of
World Council of Churches (WCC) and Lutheran World Federation (LWF) member churches and related
Organisations) and the joint humanitarian appeal for Darfur launched with Caritas Internationalis went
into its 12th year. A pledge from Caritas Korea to support the programme for three years represents a
welcome new initiative to provide longer term funding for what has become a protracted emergency.
CAFOD is the lead agency for the response from the Caritas side, whilst Norwegian Church Aid, an
ACT Member, is the main implementing agency.
Looking forward to 2017/2018, we hope to continue to build upon the relationships established
particularly in East Africa and Nigeria in order to serve the communities we work with.
CAFOD will develop effective humanitarian water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) & Protection
capacity, becoming recognised for supporting partners and Caritas agencies in these
specialisms.
Almost half (45%) of our WASH and Protection deployments have been to partners that we work most
closely with (either other CI agencies or our joint office partners (Trocaire, SCIAF)). Protection
mainstreaming training was provided for the Emergency Response Team. In country WASH training
has also been provided. A good example of CAFOD’s provision of WASH and Protection expertise is
in Nepal. CAFOD WASH staff have worked with the partner, Caritas Nepal, through the recovery phase
and supported with water surveys, baseline studies and inductions and activity planning. As the
recovery developed, they worked with the Caritas Nepal WASH team to strengthen their capacity on
water quality testing, gravity fed and pumped water supply project design and hygiene promotion.
Additionally, the team worked to support the partner with WASH in schools, hygiene promotion and
follow up on partner staff training. Alongside the WASH team and our sister agency, Trocaire,
Protection Mainstreaming teams have provided protection mainstreaming strategy and sectoral
support to Caritas Nepal. CAFOD’s Participation & Accountability Advisor provided training on
accountability to staff, handling sensitive complaints and developing targeting guidelines. In addition,
training of trainer’s sessions, sector staff Protection Mainstreaming training and ongoing support to the
Protection Mainstreaming team was provided by CAFOD and sister agencies.
CAFOD will strengthen external humanitarian policy, continue to provide a leadership role
across the sector and ensure integration of policy within programme delivery.
Since the May 2016 World Humanitarian Summit and the signing of the Grand Bargain, the localisation
of the humanitarian aid agenda has become one of the key focuses of change within the global
humanitarian system. CAFOD has positioned itself as a key advocate within this agenda, recognised
both as a co-founder of the Charter4Change as well as a key advocate for partnership approaches,
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working through the Missed Opportunities group which, through detailed research, has evidenced the
effectiveness of partnership approaches.
CAFOD hosted and chaired a meeting of Charter4Change signatories and endorsers in October 2016,
incorporating actors from across the world. The highlight of this meeting, and the Charter4Change
initiative generally, has been to provide a channel for local organisations to share their priorities with
key aid stakeholders, and to engage directly in discussions on critical issues (notably high-level talks
on the distribution of aid funding).
Case Study 3 - Syria Crisis Response: Strengthening existing partnerships and create new ones
in a conflict scenario
KEY FIGURES

The conflict in Syria and its impact on
neighbouring countries is tragic. Inside
Syria there are 15 million people in need,
6.3 million Internally Displaced Persons
(IDPs), 5 million people living in hard to
reach besieged areas, and 7 million
people are severely food insecure.

15,000,000
6,300,000
4,890,000
7,000,000

PEOPLE IN NEED
INTERNALLY DISPLACED PEOPLE
PEOPLE LIVING IN HARD-TO-REACH AND BESEIGED AREAS
SEVERELY FOOD INSECURE PEOPLE

In the neighbouring countries of Lebanon, Turkey, Jordan and Iraq the situation is no better: almost 5
million Syrians are officially registered as refugees, and many more live in those countries without being
registered. CAFOD started its humanitarian engagement in the Syria crisis response in 2013. At the
beginning of the Syria crisis (March 2011), CAFOD had a small development programme in the Middle
East (Occupied Palestinian Territory (oPT), Israel and Lebanon), mainly focused on the protection of
human rights of the Palestinian community. CAFOD needed then to adapt its programme strategy, to
focus on Syrian refugees, IDPs and vulnerable host communities. CAFOD then started emergency and
humanitarian programmes in “new” countries (Jordan, Syria, Turkey and Iraq, besides Lebanon).
This has been possible by using the many synergies present in the CI network as well as trying to go
beyond those and build up new partnerships with national NGOs.
WHAT WE HAVE ACHIEVED SO FAR
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Strong strategic partnership relations (both in terms of programme implementation and
funding) with Caritas Lebanon, Caritas Syria, Caritas Jordan, Caritas Iraq, Caritas Turkey, CRS
Lebanon, CRS Turkey, CRS Iraq, Trocaire, Secours Catholique, Caritas Luxembourg, Caritas
Norway.



Set up of a joined up humanitarian response with SCIAF, committing ourselves to a joined-up
response until December 2020 (which includes managing SCIAF funding for a total of
£720,000).



Set up a consortium with World Vision, Islamic Relief, Caritas Lebanon, Generation for
Peace, Questscope, International Middle East Peace Research centre, Fener, for the
regional programme Youth Resolve (social cohesion and peace building focused on youth
generations in Turkey, Jordan, Lebanon and Iraq) funded by the EU (Madad Trust Fund).
CAFOD/Caritas Lebanon will be able to implement a 2-year programme in Lebanon with a 1
million Euro funding.



Build a “funding partnership” with Vastenaktie (Conference of Catholic Bishops in Holland)
so to be able to fund our Caritas agencies responding to the Syria crisis (mainly in Jordan) with
a total amount of Euro 181,000.



Start new partnerships with two Syrian NGOs in Lebanon (Basmeh and Zeitooneh (B&Z)
and Women Now) with the hope of extending our programme partnership with them also in
Syria.



Humanitarian capacity development for Caritas and non-Caritas partners: our partners
have been supported with several CAFOD led capacity initiatives (protection, accountability,
advocacy, finance and audit, programme management, writing of project proposals / CI
Emergency Appeals) and other initiatives that CAFOD has supported (e.g. starting up of the
Caritas Syria Technical Support Unit in cooperation with several Caritas agencies).
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Through the above strategies CAFOD has been able to serve more than 122,000 people (24,400
households) in Syria and neighbouring countries through a mixed funding portfolio (institutional
donors, private donors, CAFOD appeal, DEC appeal) of £5 million.

Case Study 4 - The Humanitarian Capacity Development (HCD) Programme in Myanmar
The humanitarian situation in Myanmar reflects the country’s complex and dynamic socio-political
context. The country is currently undergoing a long-anticipated transition to democracy, but unrest
continues to adversely affect this process, and over 200,000 people in Myanmar (the majority of whom
are women and children) are currently displaced as a result of conflict and intercommunal violence.
Myanmar’s geography also plays a part in determining its humanitarian needs. It is particularly
susceptible to a range of a natural disasters including flooding, drought, tropical weather and
earthquakes.
Humanitarian Capacity Strengthening
The Humanitarian Capacity Strengthening programme was conceived as a pilot in 2012, and later
adapted to its current format the following year. It highlights the critical role, but frequent absence of
capacity, of partners as first responders in disaster scenarios. It forms a central element of the
Emergency Response Group at CAFOD, guiding and informing partners on how they can strengthen
and sustain their emergency response capabilities. To date the programme has supported partners in
Cambodia, the DRC, Kenya, Malawi, Mozambique, Myanmar, Niger and Zimbabwe.
CAFOD intervened in Myanmar against a backdrop of dynamic and fluid challenges, selecting three
partners (two at a local level and one national partner) to accompany through the capacity strengthening
journey. Capacity strengthening extends beyond the traditional partnership dynamic we traditionally
apply (the funding-funder relationship), in place of a relationship that supports and empowers partners
to build and reinforce their own abilities to respond to humanitarian crises.
CAFOD selected, as one of the partners for this intervention, KMSS (Karuna Mission Social Solidarity)
- Karuna Pathein (KP). KMSS are the Myanmar national affiliate to the Caritas Federation, and Karuna
Pathein (KP) are a local branch of the national organisation, operating in the diocese of Yangon. This
diocese is highly vulnerable to flooding.
Prior to CAFOD’s capacity strengthening support, and as part of a process followed by all partners in
CAFOD’s capacity strengthening portfolio, CAFOD accompanied KP through an audit of their existing
emergency response capacity. This assessment, as with all assessments conducted under this
programme, looked beyond the partner’s operational capacity to examine their strengths and
weaknesses holistically, highlighting areas for improvement in core themes such as human resources,
governance, accountability, communications, security and logistics (including procurement).
Partners who participate in the humanitarian capacity development programme are chosen for the
likelihood that an emergency (natural or man-made) will occur in their country or region. The thinking
behind the programme is that CAFOD (and indeed all international partners) can draw back support for
the partner once an acceptable level of operational sustainability and autonomy has been achieved.
However, the onset of severe flooding in autumn 2016 presented a unique opportunity for CAFOD to
accompany KP through their capacity strengthening journey, during a live emergency response
programme.
CAFOD’s local Humanitarian Capacity Development Officer (HCDO) was seconded to KP to provide
technical assistance and support, with notable contributions towards the design of the partner’s needs
assessments, accountability/participation mechanisms and security guidance. Specifically, through the
input of the CAFOD HCDO, and funding provided from CAFOD’s Humanitarian Programme-Asia.
Karuna Pathein:
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Designed a response programme framework, incorporating emergency interventions in multiple
communities;
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Incorporated SPHERE (Humanitarian Charter and Minimum Standards in Humanitarian
Response) humanitarian standards guidelines to material and food distribution plans;



Established a formal complaints handling mechanism, providing beneficiaries with the
opportunity to raise concerns regarding the intervention.

Success and Impact
During September 2016, Karuna Pathein played a central role in bringing relief to flood-affected
communities. In total 1,009 people were provided with a month’s worth of food support (including 36
cases of assistance reaching particularly vulnerable people affected by disability and chronic disease).
Beyond the programmatic impact, there were lessons learned and experiences gained that can be
applied across future responses. Notably:


A staff security plan was drawn up and implemented, ensuring that adequate risks are identified
and mitigating action taken to avoid incidents and ensure the safe deliver of assistance.



Logistics and procurement processes were applied and coordinated with other affiliates from
the Caritas Myanmar network.



Effective complaints handling and needs assessment mechanisms were designed and
implemented in affected communities.



KP staff and management increased their knowledge of, and confidence using, the Core
Humanitarian Standards for emergency response programming.

By its nature, capacity strengthening is a difficult theme to report against. Considerable preparation may
go into building the skillset of staff and strengthening the internal systems of our emergency response
partners, but the impact of these interventions is only truly felt when confronted with a crisis. We see
the impact of these interventions when partners such as Karuna Pathein can respond to emergencies
more efficiently and effectively than would have otherwise been possible. CAFOD will continue to
support this partner on their capacity strengthening journey, through to March 2018.
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Aim 4 - Building our partnerships in the Catholic community, so that Catholics
in England and Wales are inspired to challenge global poverty through prayer,
action and giving, so transforming their own lives.
CAFOD will enable more parishioners, children & young people and volunteers across all
generations to participate in our work as an expression of their faith, especially in the context
of Laudato Si’ and the Papal Bull of the Extraordinary Jubilee of Mercy.

In 2016/17, nearly 88,000 supporters participated in
our work. Whilst this was fewer in number than
those participating in the previous year, our
supporters in 2017/18 were more active in
supporting CAFOD schemes and initiatives.
In this year 15,000 fewer individual campaigners
and 7,000 fewer donors registered with us when
compared with 2015/16. However, we saw a
significant increase in parish communities
supporting our campaigning work.
In excess of 35,000 individuals signed pledges in
support of refugees in 2016/17.

Although overall parish participation has declined
this year, the later timing of our Lent appeal
meant we naturally received fewer donations
from parishes before the close of the financial
year.
These figures should also be seen in the context
of changing parish structures, with ‘served from’
parishes increasing in number. When we look at
participation rates for standard parishes the
figure participating is nearer 90 percent.

A more challenging fundraising environment, changing fundraising regulations and more restrictive
rules governing how we can communicate with our supporters meant maintaining levels of participation
at 2015/16 levels was more ambitious.
Total number of Volunteers

One area that has grown significantly is the
number of volunteers who give their time to
CAFOD. This has grown from 4,857 last year to
5,770 in 2016/17.
Many volunteers volunteer in more than one
capacity, with 8,611 volunteer ‘roles’ among the
5,770 volunteers. We also saw growth across all
types of volunteering. We have also seen an
increase in volunteers who coordinate and support
other volunteers.

5,770
4,857
3,213

2844

2,843

FY11/12

FY12/13

FY13/14

3,714

FY14/15

FY15/16

FY16/17

Total number of Volunteers
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There has been over 100%
growth in the number of school
visits undertaken and strong
growth in the number of schools’
volunteers (223 in 2016/17
compared to 161 in 2015/16).
We reached our target of 60% of
Catholic Secondary schools
signing up to CAFOD resources
for the new RE (Religious
Education) scheme for 11-14’s.

Participation and involvement volunteering by young people continues to grow. Two hundred and fifty
young people completed 3 days leadership training with CAFOD. Evidence indicates that there is a
wide range of activity happening as a result of this training programme. Young people took part in full
time, twelve-month volunteer placements and collectively, they have organised 217 activities
promoting CAFOD and action on social justice.
Dialogue and interaction between our volunteers and our international programmes has also increased
since 2015/2016 with:
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A significant increase in downloadable webinars with our international partners with excellent
take up and feedback by volunteers.
Volunteers from Uganda sharing online with volunteers in England & Wales.
30% of online volunteer applications are from people overseas who want to volunteer in our
international offices.
Working in partnership with Caritas Philippines to roll out parish volunteer training programmes
in the Philippines with similar discussion taking place with Caritas Nigeria.
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Key facts

Case Study 5 – Campaign in solidarity with refugees

Supporters in parishes and schools were invited
to pray and write messages of hope for refugees.
The action was accompanied by a guided liturgy
taking the form of ‘stations’ describing the
journeys of refugees. Events were also
organised to discuss government policy on
refugees. We worked in collaboration and
partnered with the Jesuit Refugee Service UK
(JRS) and Caritas Social Action Network
(CSAN).

The Lampedusa Cross (wooden cross made from pieces of a boat that was wrecked off the coast of
Lampedusa, Italy on 11 October, 2013) symbolised the experiences and plight of refugees and enabled
the Catholic community to express their concern and solidarity for those forced to flee from their homes.

Action in Numbers

35,304

Messages of hope received

506

Groups engaged; including 234 Parishes & 222 Schools
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Events included;

-

-

Ecumenical service - ahead of a march in
September with Christian Aid.
Syria Peace Vigil - outside the Russian
Embassy and the Foreign Office. A Caritaswide action and in partnership with Pax
Christi and the Lutheran Church.
Service of dedication - at the end of the
Year of Mercy in Salford.
Larger pilgrimages were hosted at
Plymouth,
Lindisfarne,
Iona
and
Walsingham and the Shrewsbury diocese
had a dedicated tour of their Cross.

This response by the Catholic community resulted
in questions raised in Parliament, engagement with
refugees based in England and Wales and many
messages of solidarity shared with refugees in
CAFOD supported refugee camps in the Middle
East

Focus in Basildon
The Lampedusa cross was a central feature
for the five weekend Masses at Our Lady and
All Saints, Basildon. Father Dominic Howarth
said: “Parishioners were deeply moved by the
story of the cross and all that it signifies, and
after Masses prayed in front of the cross, and
wrote messages of hope and solidarity which
CAFOD will pass to the refugees. The cross
also toured local primary schools, with the
children adding many messages, especially to
other children who are amongst the refugees.”
Parishioners from Batheaston, Northend and
Bathford gathered at sunset at the Good
Shepherd Church, Northend, near Bath for a
service to reflect on the refugee crisis. The
cross had a special significance for one
member of the congregation who fled the IranIraq war of the 1990s. She said: “For me, the simple wooden cross from the shores of Lampedusa,
hewn from the wreckage of a battered boat, comes alive in my hands. It speaks to me as I gently run
my fingers and palm along the grain and knot.”
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To mark the beginning of Lent, a selection of students from the Catholic society of the University of
Chester made a five-day pilgrimage to Rome and carried the Lampedusa cross. During their trip, the
students attended a prayer service and a discussion. Vice President, Siobhan Doyle, a fourth year
studying International development and Spanish, said: “The Lampedusa service was a beautiful way to
remember the challenges refugees face both overseas and in the UK and reminded us that we need to
do more to support the millions of refugees.”
Anne Barry, an education volunteer visited Sacred Heart Primary School, Hastings, East Sussex: “The
children were totally engaged and had great empathy with refugee children – children who are so like
themselves, with similar hopes, dreams and ambitions. We were fortunate to be able to bring along a
Lampedusa Cross and all present appreciated the story.”

In support of Aims 1- 4
In 2016/17 our internally focused priorities were about embedding and sustaining the changes made in
the last two years. We have made good progress with these priorities, with examples given below:
CAFOD People Framework
With input from our people, we have implemented a simple and clear statement of desired behaviours.
The leadership team and each group have used the People Framework to identify their areas of strength
and work on their areas of weakness. The behaviours set out in the People Framework are supported
by a “Managers Toolkit”, our management development programme and HR policies. The staff
engagement survey, which will take place in September 2017 will provide us with a baseline from which
we will be able to measure how well we are embedding the desired behaviours.
Change and Project Management Approach
We have also implemented a new Change and Project Management Framework which defines clear
roles and responsibilities, a systematic approach and provides templates, tools and guides to facilitate
better collaboration. It is already being used successfully to define and implement a number of projects.
Organisational performance analysis and reporting
Support for strategy and planning together with performance analysis and reporting have been moved
from different teams into a single function. New processes have been implemented that have improved
how we monitor, analyse and report against Strategic Directions and our organisational key
performance indicators.

Other factors affecting performance and achievement of our objectives
The publication of Laudato Si’ has continued to shape our future work and invigorate the linkage
between CAFOD’s strategic framework ‘Just One World’, which sets out the four aims for our work to
2020 and our mandate to help inform and mobilise the Catholic community in England and Wales to
address issues of poverty and injustice across the world, in ways that also support transformational
change in our own lives. We have, throughout 2016/17, undertaken a major piece of work to reflect on
how Laudato Si’ affects our work and our idea of ‘Redefining Progress’ and integral ecology. We have
worked with partners across the world, including the Catholic Community in England and Wales, to
frame our future work in this context. The final report of this work is due to be published in 2017 and its
findings and recommendations will feed into our future Strategic Directions to reflect the adoption of
Laudato Si’ as a way to inspire our works.
Whilst working in environments where the poorest and most marginalised peoples are to be found, we
have faced increasing physical security challenges, often coupled with a greater risk of the potential for
aid resources to be affected by fraud, loss or corruption, or diverted to terrorist organisations. CAFOD
has responded by clearly identifying these risks and actively managing them. We have invested in
appropriate resources focused on security, internal audit, financial control and management systems,
development and dissemination of integrity policies and other systems resources, to build up sufficient
organisation, expertise and capacity to deal with these significant challenges.
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In the 2016/17 financial year CAFOD has supported partners to apply to institutional donors directly, as
lead applicant. This is in line with our ethos of shifting the balance to our southern partners and
supporting their growth and development. It also responds to the trend for some donors to favour
funding local civil society directly. CAFOD has supported partners with proposal development
processes to secure contracts with a total value of £782,755. This has been across a range of countries
including Zimbabwe, Bangladesh, occupied Palestinian territory and Sierra Leone, and across a range
of thematic areas including emergency assistance, child protection and advocacy. Donors have
included the European Union and the START Fund.
A Learning Paper on Partner Direct Funding, and what is preventing partners from currently accessing
greater levels of institutional funding direct, was published in December 2016. Recommendations were
made to continue this piece of work, with a second phase of the project agreed, to look at a specific set
of partners, and what they have done to increase their levels of institutional funding.

Plans for the future
CAFOD Strategic Directions – 2017 and beyond
During 2016/17 CAFOD started the move to a 3-year planning cycle and, as part of this, identified those
areas (known as Strategic Directions) that are the most important for us to collectively manage and
monitor to ensure that we are best able to achieve the Four Aims of Just One World.
These cover much of what we do at CAFOD, but they are not intended to include every aspect of our
work. Instead, they are the areas of our work on which we need to focus, and which should drive our
ongoing change and improvement as an organisation. Underpinning the Strategic Directions are our
CAFOD values and the behaviours outlined in our People Framework – they will be delivered in line
with these key enablers.
The areas identified are:





Demonstrating and communicating the quality and distinctiveness of our work
Growing our income and ensuring stewardship of resources
Increasing participation and impact of the Catholic community
Developing more equitable, effective and accountable partnerships to redress the imbalance of
power at global and national level

In deciding on these, we have been mindful of the internal and external context in which CAFOD is
working. These build upon the Towards 2020 change programme and take account of external
influences and events that have happened since Towards 2020 was launched in 2014 – notably Brexit,
Laudato Si, the World Humanitarian Summit, changes to UK fundraising regulation, and the Paris
Climate agreement. Workshops with staff were run in February 2017 and this internal feedback has
been incorporated into the final Strategic Directions accordingly.
CAFOD leadership will review the Strategic Directions every 6 months (from October 2017) to ensure
they are relevant and still reflect our priority areas of work. This means that there is no strict timeframe
on any of them – they will remain valid until we either achieve the direction or until the context we work
in changes enough that it is felt those objectives no longer need to be prioritised. Some are long-term
ambitions, others will require more urgency to respond to present circumstances.
Demonstrating and communicating the quality and distinctiveness of our work
How we contribute to positive change is really what makes us distinctive as an organisation: our vision,
mission and values as outlined in Just One World; the quality, impact and focus of our programmes;
our partnership approach; and working through and in service to the Church.
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We need to demonstrate and communicate what we contribute to positive change and how we make
that contribution. This will ensure we deliver our organisational Mission; enable CAFOD staff, partners
and communities to learn and adapt our interventions to achieve impact and influence; ensure
stewardship of our resources; communicate effectively to all our audiences; and inspire support.
Objectives


We will have a refreshed, distinctive proposition reflecting our core mission which is clear,
compelling and inspiring for staff, volunteers, supporters and partners.



We will gather evidence as consistently, effectively and simply as possible to understand the
contribution and impact of our programmes; adopting tools which are simple and proportionate
for CAFOD and our partners.



The allocation of our human and financial resources will reflect our distinctive contribution to
change and our agreed priorities.



We will use evidence to strengthen our internal and external communications to inspire and
motivate all audiences in the achievement of our shared mission.

Growing our income and ensuring stewardship of resources
We will focus on income growth and take collective responsibility for the stewardship of our resources
(financial and otherwise) to better deliver our shared mission, overcome the challenging fundraising
environment and respond to the changing characteristics of the Catholic Community in England &
Wales. Fundraising will reflect our Catholic ethos and identity, our programme ambitions and need, and
the capacity of our partners.
Supporter Fundraising will remain at the heart of CAFOD’s income generation, always being more than
50 percent of our income, remaining relevant and accessible to all parts of the Catholic community and
ensuring that we stay clearly rooted in our community and faith identity.
Institutional income will remain essential to extending the reach of our International Programme and
offers a resource for work currently funded by supporter contributions.
Objectives


Our income targets will become more aligned with our programme priorities and we will develop
processes to ensure we can allocate our resources more flexibly to respond to emerging
challenges and opportunities.



We will sustain and grow supporter income by having a stronger relational element in our
fundraising, through our local presence in parishes, coupled with a compelling digital approach
and excellent supporter care.



Our Institutional income will grow, including greater contributions via our sister Catholic
Agencies, focusing on our and our partners’ distinctive approaches and skills, delivering greater
overhead cost recovery, and responding to constant changes in donor positions and funding
flows.



By April 2018 we will ensure that our unrestricted general income is in balance with, or exceeds,
our core operating costs.

Increasing participation and impact of the Catholic community
Within the Catholic Community of England and Wales, our programme of prayer, giving, reflection and
action is dependent upon the support of clergy and lay leaders, the commitment of volunteers, and the
generosity of individuals.
A prime purpose of staff and volunteers working within this community, therefore, is to engage, inspire,
build relationships. We invite supporters to participate, through CAFOD, in the Church’s mission to
promote human flourishing and justice worldwide as an expression of faith and compassion.
We need to understand the diversity of the Catholic community so we can offer supporters opportunities
to participate that are appropriate for them.
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The rich picture and challenge painted by Laudato Si’ reminds each of us of our responsibility to respond
to the cry of the poor and the cry of the earth. The growing ease of technology to connect a wider global
family with a common interest has the potential to enable greater participation and collaboration in the
struggle against poverty and injustice.
Objectives


All our supporter programmes will facilitate participation of volunteers, clergy and other key
influencers in the Catholic Community in England and Wales.



We will see more examples of volunteers taking a lead role in reaching out to the diverse
Catholic community, and influencing our supporter programme development.



We will ensure that staff and volunteers consistently apply the insights and learning about our
Catholic community to their activities. We will also share insights and learning with fellow
Catholic networks.

Developing more equitable, effective and accountable partnerships to redress the imbalance of
power at global and national level
We believe that the poorest people and communities are unjustly excluded from the resources, skills,
influence and capacity needed for a healthy and dignified life and future. Laudato Si’ talks about the
need for ‘dialogue’ to bring about change - we need to be doing this as CAFOD, as a member of Catholic
networks and in our support to our partners.
We also need to do more to address the power imbalances within our own partnerships, and model the
changes we hope to see in the wider world in our own work with partners and communities.
Objectives


We will demonstrate a rebalancing of our resources, ways of working and use of expertise in
favour of greater local ownership, involvement and capacity.



As part of a distinctive Catholic network we will enable and work alongside partners from across
the globe to have a more effective influence at national, regional and global levels.



We will support appropriate partners to build sustainable funding models through direct funding
from both institutional and local supporter fundraising.

Principal risks and uncertainties
CAFOD’s work to eradicate poverty is inherently risky, particularly in fragile or conflict-prone countries,
or when speaking out on difficult or controversial issues.
Managing risks effectively is integral to the achievement of our essential purpose, and governance
structures are in place to ensure the early identification and mitigation of key risks, and support the
delivery of our strategy.
The Trustees are ultimately responsible for risk management and the effectiveness of CAFOD’s internal
control systems. The major risks to which CAFOD is exposed, as identified by the Trustees, have been
reviewed and systems or procedures have been established to manage those risks.
The Board has considered and approved the risk management policy and its appetite for risk. The
regular review of the risk management process has been delegated to the Finance, Legal, Audit and
Risk committee, which also oversees the work of the internal audit function and receives regular reports.
CAFOD’s systems and procedures are designed to manage rather than eliminate risk and provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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Senior management ensures that day-to-day risk management processes are embedded across the
organisation through the effective implementation of policies and procedures. Risk registers are
developed at several levels
 Corporate Risk Register – Strategic risks
 The Corporate Risk Register is reviewed and updated annually by the CAFOD
Leadership Group and it is formally reviewed and approved by the Trustees, also
on an annual basis.
 Operating Group risk registers – Operational / functional risks
 The Finance, Legal, Audit and Risk committee review these risk registers on a
rolling basis.
 International Programme Management – assessments for individual projects/programmes
 Major organisational change projects – project risks assessed and managed

Principal Risks
Our Corporate Risk Register has been constructed to follow the new Strategic Directions agreed for
CAFOD. We have assessed the main risks that face CAFOD and may prevent us from achieving those
Strategic Directions. These are the areas that are the most important for us to collectively manage and
monitor, to ensure that we are best able to achieve the Four Aims of Just One World. The following
have been identified as our principal corporate risks. For each risk, an indication is given as to the work
we do to mitigate the possibility of that risk occurring or mitigate the effects if it were to occur.

Demonstrating the Quality and Distinctiveness of our Work
Key Risk 1
CAFOD fails in its duty and is shown to be negligent in Security arrangements, with regards to staff or
others travelling overseas or engaged on CAFOD business; resulting in injury or death to CAFOD staff
or others, programme disruption and financial loss, legal and reputational damage for CAFOD.
Key controls
The control objective for this risk is to minimise the risk of staff and others facing life threatening
situations without adequate training and/or access to effective support if they become at risk. This is
achieved by a combination of policy, guidelines and controls, including;







Corporate Security Policy, Security Manual and Crisis Management Plan in place;
Role of CAFOD / SCIAF Global Security Coordinator provides professional overview;
Regularly updated security plan in place for all countries in which CAFOD has a programme;
Mandatory security training provided to staff;
Security Managers for all CAFOD staff (and visitor) trips ensure, within the scope of their
control, that CAFOD security policies and procedures are followed;
Central incident reporting system and database.

Key Risk 2
CAFOD is not compliant with established systems and internal and external Standards, leading to a
lack of effective reporting and/or loss of reputation within Caritas Internationalis, across the sector and
with donors.
Key controls
The control objective for this risk is to embed compliance with all the standards CAFOD has signed up
to throughout the organisation and ensure we meet those standards. This is achieved by a combination
of policy, guidelines and controls, including;
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Key operating manuals in place
o International Partnership
o Programme Management
o Programme Finance
These manuals set out the controls in the processes that CAFOD expects to operate and the
standards that should be adhered to;
Project Management database system set up to prompt inclusion of documentation and
evidence that key steps in required processes have been followed;

Monitoring of compliance with these controls is carried out by management and reviewed by the
Finance, Legal, Audit and Risk Committee and compliance with external standards is monitored through
a cycle of relevant audits.

Growing our income and reducing our core operating costs
Key Risk 3
Slowness in reacting to changes in UK government policy and other national and international political
developments that impact on CAFOD’s work, in particular, the changing nature of DFID funding
opportunities and our continued ability to access EU based funding, leading to a loss of relevance in
the sector and lack of influence with DFID.
Key controls
The control objective for this risk is to maintain organisational flexibility and response in adapting to new
policy and political challenges. CAFOD engages with DFID to ensure changes in policy have the poorest
as their focus, working closely with other NGOs and the Parliamentary Friends of CAFOD. The CAFOD
Leadership Group (and relevant teams) review the external environment and report back, by
participation in sector relevant external working groups / advisory bodies and meet monthly to review
concerns and determine the required response activity.
Key Risk 4
In relation to work in high risk environments, or with Institutional donors, CAFOD does not comply with
/ is shown to be negligent in relation to legislation or requirements surrounding:
 Counter-terrorism and anti-diversion of funds;
 Anti-bribery and money laundering; or
 Charity Commission regulations (including Fraud and Loss reporting).
Leading to reduced Institutional funding income and reputational damage, including being excluded
from funding by some significant donors.
Key controls
The control objective for this risk is to ensure that all relevant staff have the knowledge, skills and
capacity to implement/monitor compliance in real time and to act appropriately in case of fraud and
other financial irregularities. This is achieved by a combination of policy, guidelines and controls,
including;
 Integrity Policies communicated to all staff;
 Operating manuals in place and routinely updated, setting out the controls in the processes that
CAFOD expects to operate, including Programme Financial Manual and Supply Chain Manual
in relation to financial risks; MANGO financial health check and Minimum Financial Standards
(with mitigating actions) required for all partners; Pre-Grant Approval Authorisation Form
(PGAAF) for High Risk Countries;
 Fraud and loss reporting procedures in place - case register kept updated with active follow up
on open cases;
 Whistleblowing policy in place and communicated to all staff & partners.
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These controls are monitored through a risk based Internal Audit programme, with review of internal
audit reports and recommendations follow up reported at the quarterly Finance, Legal, Audit and Risk
Committee meetings; International Operations Audit function for international offices to assess
awareness and understanding of policies and procedures; and external audits of CAFOD (UK and
Overseas offices) and relevant partners.
Key Risk 5
On implementing the new Supporter and Volunteer database system (CSD), staff learning curve and/or
technical issues, impact significantly on supporter experience, leading to loss of engagement and a
negative impact on income.
Key controls
The control objective for this risk is to minimise the potential for disruption at the time of system
migration. This will involve extensive systems testing prior to implementation, key staff being trained on
new system and tight access controls to limit data errors.
Increasing participation and impact made by the Catholic Community
Key Risk 6
Major scandal / allegation / incident / serious fraud / litigation / threats arising at CAFOD office or partner
level (UK or international) from:
o staff or volunteer or trustee or partner behaviour; or
o perceived transgression of Catholic Social teaching associated with CAFOD.
Leading to severe reputational damage and possible loss of income or significant fines/costs.
Key controls
The control objective for this risk is ensuring an effective process is in place to capture and effectively
manage appropriate actions and communications under a variety of scenarios. This includes;





Crisis Management Plan in place;
Fraud and Loss Policy and formal reporting procedures in place;
Safeguarding Policy and reporting procedures in place;
Integrity Policies and reporting procedures in place.

Developing more equitable, effective and accountable partnerships to redress the imbalance of
power at global and national level.
Key Risk 7
CAFOD does not have enough Partners with the capacity / willingness to change and grow in this way,
leading to a failure to extend CAFOD's work through accompanying partners to access their own funds.
Key controls
The control objective for this risk is to ensure effective assessment of Partner readiness for direct
funding, through;
 Partnership approach (including developing and exiting partnerships and capacity
strengthening) documented in International Partnership Manual;
 Country Strategy Paper and Thematic Programme Framework design and reflection processes
consider appropriate partner portfolio;
Key Risk 8
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CAFOD does not embed appropriate systems and ways of working to strengthen accountability, leading
to a failure to consistently engage with and listen to the voice of people and communities, resulting in
reduced programme effectiveness and a failure to bring about real and lasting change.
Key controls
The control objective for this risk is to improve our evidencing of appropriate accountability, through;
 Localised approach to accountability set out in Country Strategy Papers and Thematic
Programme Frameworks;
 Programme Management Manual in place which defines relevant CAFOD required controls
and accountability procedures;
 Complaints procedure accessible by partners and communities.
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Financial review
All CAFOD’s work relies on the hugely generous support that CAFOD receives from those in the
Catholic community of England and Wales.
During the year we received £50 million; with almost two thirds donated from supporters and the balance
raised from Caritas and other Catholic agencies, the UK government and other governmental and
institutional donors.
CAFOD adopted new accounting policies in certain areas, to comply with the requirements of the new
Charities SORP (FRS102) for the financial year ending March 2016. There have been no further
significant changes in accounting policies for this financial year. We have continued to add explanations
and content to the Trustees’ Report to comply with the Charities SORP (FRS102) and in accordance
with guidance and best practice set out by the Charities Commission.

Principal Funding Sources
The principal funding sources for the year were from supporter donations and legacies and grants from
Caritas and other funding agencies and from governments and institutional donors.
10/11

11/12

12/13

13/14

14/15

15/16

16/17

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

Supporter general donations
Supporter legacy donations
Supporter emergency appeal donations direct
Supporter emergency appeal donations via DEC
Grants from Caritas and other Catholic agencies
Grants from governments and institutional donors
Trading and interest earned

22.4
6.4
4.6
3.9
3.2
14.9
0.3

23.6
6.1
6.3
3.5
7.5
13.8
0.4

23.5
7.4
1.3
1.3
3.7
10.7
0.4

18.4
7.3
8.7
1.2
3.0
12.4
0.3

25.7
7.7
3.8
2.6
2.7
13.3
0.3

21.2
5.3
5.3
3.9
4.5
12.6
0.3

19.6
6.9
4.7
0.3
5.7
12.6
0.2

Total incoming resources

55.7

61.2

48.3

51.3

56.1

53.1

50.0

Income

Supporter general donations and legacies support CAFOD’s overall programmes and supporter appeal
donations enable us to respond to major humanitarian disasters.
Supporter emergency appeal donations received in the year included £2.5m for the East Africa crisis
response, £1.0m for the Ethiopia drought response.
Grants from Caritas, CIDSE and other Catholic agencies support specific international programmes
including several emergency responses that CAFOD are leading on behalf of Caritas Internationalis.
Funds raised during the year include £1.8m for the Eritrea programme and £1.2m for the South Sudan
programme, £0.7m for the Nepal Earthquake response and £0.7m for the Sudan programme.
Grants from governments and institutional donors includes the last period of the Programme
Partnership Agreement grant from the UK government Department for International Development that
provides strategic funding for CAFOD work and grants for particular programmes. This grant ceased
on 31st December 2016. Funds raised during the year include £6.8m from the UK government, £2.1m
from the European Union and £1.4m from United Nations agencies, primarily funding our Sudan
programme.

Expenditure
Together with funds in hand at the start of the financial year, the income raised enabled us to deliver
an overall programme of over £52.4 million during 2016-17; with £5.9million (11%) spent on raising
funds and £46.5 million (89%) spent on CAFOD’s charitable programmes. In doing this we were able
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to allocate nearly 53% (2016: 55%) of our total expenditure to grants and programme payments to
partners, as illustrated in the table below.
This is slightly lower than in 2015-16 partly due to the timing of our major appeal this year for the East
African Crisis. Significant funds were received at the end of March 2017 and these will be spent down
in the 2017-18 financial year. In 2015-16 the main appeals (Nepal and Philippines) were earlier in the
financial year – allowing funds to be transferred to partners during the same financial year.
Our charitable programme is in four parts; with £27.4 million spent on international development,
£14.5m on disaster relief, £2.0m on UK development education and £2.6m on advocacy and
campaigning.
Expenditure

Raising funds
Charitable programme
International development
Disaster relief
UK development education
Advocacy and campaiging

Grants &
programme
payments
£m

Activities

Support

16/17

£m

£m

£m

0.0

5.2

0.7

5.9

11%

17.8
10.0
0.0
0.2

6.4
3.3
1.7
2.1

3.2
1.2
0.3
0.3

27.4
14.5
2.0
2.6

52%

28.0

18.7

5.7

52.4

53%

36%

11%

28%
4%
5%

Financial position and reserves policy
The Trustees review CAFOD’s reserves policy each year, ensuring a balance between spending on the
immediate needs of charitable programmes and setting aside a reserve to protect our work, by providing
time to adjust to any sudden large scale operational challenges in our overseas work or to changing
financial circumstances in the amount of funds available.
The level of CAFOD’s reserves and details of the other individual funds CAFOD holds are provided in
notes 19 and 20 to the financial statements. These funds and reserves are amounts held at 31 March
2017 in accordance with our reserves policy.
At 31 March 2017, we held total funds and reserves of £26.4 million - £10.0 million general funds; £9.6
million designated by the trustees for specific purposes; £6.8 million restricted funds in hand including
a permanent endowment fund of £0.5 million.
At March 16
£m

At March 17
£m

Stabilisation fund
Unallocated reserve
General funds

9.0
0.9
9.9

9.0
1.0
10.0

Fixed assets fund
Programme fund
Designated funds

5.7
7.3
13.0

5.7
3.9
9.6

0.5
5.3
5.8

0.5
6.3
6.8

28.7

26.4

Permanent endowment
Programme funds
Restricted funds
Total funds and reserves

The Trustees have established a desired stabilisation fund, which contributes to limit the risk of
disruption to CAFOD’s charitable programmes associated with the financial risks the organisation faces.
Alongside the potential risks associated with the assets that CAFOD holds and with potential
unforeseen costs, the Trustees consider the main financial risk to be an unexpected downturn in
budgeted general income. To cope with any unexpected downturn in budgeted general income, without
damaging the long-term programme commitments that CAFOD makes to its partners, CAFOD would
need at least two years to adjust these programmes.
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Based upon a possible shortfall of 10-15 per cent in the budgeted general income and the need for two
years to adjust programmes, the Trustees have established the target level of free reserves at 20-30
per cent of the planned annual general income for the coming years, which equates to a range of £6
million - £9 million.
At 31 March 2017, general funds of £9.0 million are available, together with £1.0 million in unallocated
reserves, so that our target level of £6 million - £9 million for free reserves is met. The Trustees will not
allocate further reserves to specific programmes in 2017-18 unless the total of free reserves can be
anticipated to exceed £9 million throughout 2017-18. As we have budgeted to spend more on CAFOD
grants to partners and operating costs in 2017-18 than we expect to receive in unrestricted income, we
will utilise that unallocated reserve to cover this planned deficit.
We also held £9.6 million designated funds at the balance sheet date - £5.7 million set aside to fund
the fixed assets that are required for CAFOD’s operations and £3.9 million already assigned by the
Trustees to be spent in the coming years on specific activities.
At the end of the year we also held £5.3 million of restricted programme funds, including £1.9m for the
ongoing Nepal earthquake response, £2.0m for the East Africa crisis response and £0.8m for the Syria
humanitarian response.

Investment Policy
The objective of CAFOD’s investment policy is to maintain high liquidity whilst ensuring maximum
security by avoiding risk to capital, meeting ethical considerations and achieving the best possible return
within these limiting parameters.
To meet this objective, investments are made in Sterling deposits with financial institutions that hold a
high credit rating, spreading the total invested across fixed terms up to 24 months and limiting the
amount invested with any one financial institution. CAFOD’s current policy is to restrict deposits to UK
incorporated banks that are regulated by UK banking authorities.
As well as Sterling deposits, CAFOD maintains balances in Sterling, US Dollars and Euros for
transactional purposes to cover ongoing expenditure. These “transactional” balances are held on
instant access with the Royal Bank of Scotland.
In addition, CAFOD has a permanent endowment fund, the capital element of which is held in perpetuity
and from which the income is applied to CAFOD’s work. To maintain the capital value of this fund, meet
its ethical standards and achieve the best possible return, this fund is invested in an ethical UK common
investment fund.
CAFOD’s investment policy is reviewed by the Finance, Legal, Audit and Risk committee, acting as an
investment sub-committee, and is approved by the Trustees annually. The Finance, Legal, Audit and
Risk committee, reporting to the Trustees, monitor investment performance and compliance with
investment policy quarterly.
The Trustees have confirmed that the objectives of CAFOD’s investment policy were met during the
year.

Factors affecting the financial performance and position
going forward
The DFID Programme partnership agreement (PPA) grant has been received by CAFOD for a number
of years (£4.2m per annum) and was unrestricted in nature. For 2016-17, a 9-month extension to the
PPA was agreed and CAFOD received a proportionately reduced grant, which was earmarked to
specific programmes agreed with DFID. CAFOD anticipated the impact of this change in funding from
33

Catholic Agency for Overseas Development

Trustees’ Report for the year ended 31 March 2017
DFID and other future uncertainty, by reducing its long-term core spending commitments, (which relied
on this level of unrestricted income), by approximately £3m per annum. At this stage, there is no
comparable funding source available to CAFOD from DFID, of a restricted or unrestricted nature. We
are continuing to explore the possibility of applying for DFID funding under the UK Aid Connect
programme, announced in late 2016, however, there have been long delays in the UK government
finalising this scheme, most recently due to the June 2017 election.
CAFOD are monitoring the impact of the more difficult environment and new best practices for
fundraising in the UK, together with the potential for new legislation (under the Global Data Protection
Regulations coming in force from May 2018) and further Charity Commission guidance in this area, on
Supporter income currently generated from such fundraising activities. We have seen little negative
impact on income in this financial year and we have a fully funded contingency reserve to cover the
eventuality of any significant income shortfall due to these factors. We remain confident that we can
adopt best practice in the sector, as the guidelines and legislation emerge, and overcome any financial
impact over time, by engaging appropriately with our strong and loyal Supporter base. The ongoing
development of our new Supporter database will give us the flexibility to adopt best practice in recording
and monitoring supporter permissions and preferences, with minimal incremental expenditure.
The decision by the UK electorate to leave the European Union (EU) continues to raise uncertainty over
a range of issues affecting CAFOD and other UK based INGO’s. The prolonged depreciation of the
pound against the US Dollar has reduced the effective value of our £ sterling grants to our partners, as
they spend in local currencies mostly aligned to the US Dollar. Any additional volatility of the UK
economy may further impact our supporter fundraising income, as our supporters face an uncertain
financial future. When and to what extent this may occur is difficult to predict, but CAFOD will be mindful
of this and continue to practice careful stewardship of our finances. The process and extent of the
impact of EU exit remains uncertain at this stage. CAFOD generally receives between £2m - £3m per
year from EU institutions, consisting of Europe Aid (development funding) and some from ECHO
(humanitarian funding). The longer-term impact on this relatively small part (approximately 5 percent)
of CAFOD’s total income, coming from the EU (defined as EU institutions and EU member states), is
unclear.
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Structure, governance and management
Legal structure and governing document
CAFOD is the official overseas development agency of the Catholic Church in England and Wales. It
has its origins in the action of Catholic women’s organisations that held the first ‘Family Fast Day’ in
1960. Subsequently, in 1962, CAFOD was formally established by the Bishops of England and Wales
to address the concern of the Catholic community about the needs and problems of developing
countries.
As previously reported, the assets and operations of CAFOD were transferred from the original
charitable trust (charity registration number 285776) to a new charitable company limited by guarantee
(company number 9387398, charity registration number 1160384) with effect from 1 April 2015. The
new charitable company has the same name, objects and initial trustees as the original charitable trust.
The new legal structure:


is more appropriate for the nature, complexity and scale of CAFOD’s work;



is clearer to understand by those CAFOD has dealings with (funders, international governments
and regulators, partner organisations, suppliers and other key stakeholders), making it easier
to set up agreements and other contracts, and



provides a more appropriate governance framework, including relevant limits on the liability of
trustees.

CAFOD is therefore constituted as a charitable company limited by guarantee and not having a share
capital. The governing document is the Memorandum and Articles of Association.

Board of Trustees
CAFOD is governed by four Member Trustees and a wider group of Trustees, who together form the
Board of Trustees. The Trustees for the purposes of charity law and regulation are also the directors of
the charitable company for the purposes of company law.
Member Trustees are appointed by the existing Member Trustees with their appointment ratified by the
standing committee of the Bishops’ Conference of England and Wales. The Member Trustees hold a
limited number of reserved powers, including the appointment of other Trustees and the power to
amend CAFOD’s Memorandum and Articles. All other powers, including the establishment of specialist
committees and general responsibility for the running of CAFOD are vested with the full Board of
Trustees.
The Board of Trustees meets formally four times a year, together with the CAFOD leadership team.
One of these quarterly meetings takes place over a residential weekend, to allow time for a deeper
understanding of CAFOD’s programme of work. Trustees have an induction programme and some chair
specialist committees and involve themselves with the work of different sections, international regional
teams and volunteer centres to ensure that collectively they have the overview necessary for the proper
governance of CAFOD. There are two sub-committees (Strategy and Performance Committee and
Finance, Legal, Audit and Risk Committee), each having a number of Trustee members.
The whole Trustee body brings a wide range of skills and experience from a variety of backgrounds
including finance, government and the charity sector, as well as from the Catholic community. In the
last year we have, following the completion of a Trustee Skills Audit, appointed 4 new Trustees to further
increase the skills base and experience of the Board.
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Decision making
The Board of Trustees is the custodian of CAFOD’s vision, mission and values; they approve strategy,
structure, corporate plans and budgets and ensure the organisation is effective and accountable. The
Trustees appoint the Director of CAFOD and have delegated to the Director and management of
CAFOD the responsibility for the approval of grants to partners. Grants are made within agreed
strategies and programmes of work on the basis of proposals that are subject to formal appraisal,
approval, monitoring and evaluation.

Remuneration policies
As an agency of the Catholic Church, CAFOD believes that all employees should be treated with dignity
and respect. This includes setting remuneration packages that reflect the skills and experience required
in particular roles. It also requires careful consideration of our responsibility as stewards of the
resources entrusted to us by the Catholic community.
In setting our pay we consider:
 Is it appropriate? (does it reflect our role as an agency of the Catholic Church and our values,
particularly of dignity and stewardship)


Is the salary a living wage? (does it meet basic needs as a minimum?)



Is it equitable? (does it recognise the individual’s contribution appropriately?)



Is it sustainable? (is it acceptable within the economic climate in which CAFOD is operating?)

CAFOD’s salary scales are benchmarked within the NGO sector and are generally around the 50th
percentile. We are a Living Wage employer
CAFOD has a defined set of country-specific salary scales. An individual staff member is paid according
to their band/grade and incremental point. The incremental point is determined by the length of
experience in their current job. CAFOD does not offer any performance-related or other form of
bonuses. Staff have access to view the salary scales for every band/grade and location.
CAFOD’s position is that salary scales are reviewed annually, and may be increased, in line with the
principles below:




cost of living – specifically using the consumer price index in the UK (current figure, not year to
year comparison) and the IMF forecast inflation rate for all other countries in which we work
pay comparability – benchmarked within our own sector but also referencing public and private
sector pay increase estimates
affordability – impact on CAFOD’s overall cost base
o appropriateness – based on our values and taking into account the perspective of
principal stakeholders e.g. supporters, partners and trustees
o the relationship between different levels of salary is an important factor in remuneration
policy and CAFOD aims to set a UK salary scale where:
 the ratio between the highest and lowest salary is within 5:1
 the ratio between the highest and median (midpoint) salary is within 3.5:1

The annual review process aims to maintain the four criteria and benchmarking data in balance but with
the option to give more weight to one or more criteria each year to allow for prevailing circumstances.
Remuneration Review Process
The CAFOD Board of Trustees is responsible for setting the remuneration levels for the CAFOD key
management personnel (defined as the CAFOD Director and other members of the Business
management cluster) and other members of the CAFOD Leadership Group (CLG). CLG is responsible
for setting the remuneration for the CAFOD workforce. However, CAFOD is committed to ensuring that
there is a clear relationship between the remuneration policy and practice of senior staff and that of
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CAFOD’s whole workforce. Therefore the remuneration review process is designed to accommodate
this.
The Board of Trustees has delegated the responsibility for making remuneration recommendations to
the Remuneration Committee
Annually, in the autumn, the Remuneration Committee will review evidence for each of the five
principles. This evidence will be compiled by the Head of People and Performance and will be
accompanied by a financial impact analysis provided by the Head of Finance, Information and
Infrastructure.
The autumn meeting is attended by Director of CAFOD, who will outline the CAFOD Leadership Group’s
position on remuneration for CAFOD staff members.
The Remuneration Committee will also receive a submission from Union representatives. This may be
in person or in writing.
The Remuneration Committee will consider all the information received and:



make recommendations on the remuneration of senior executives to go before the autumn
meeting of the Board of Trustees
make recommendations on the remuneration of CAFOD staff members to go to CLG.

At the autumn meeting of the Board of Trustees, the Chair of the Remuneration Committee will present
recommendations on senior executive remuneration. The Head of People and Performance will also
present CLG’s decision on staff remuneration.
The Board will consider the information presented and set the senior executive remuneration for the
forthcoming year.

Communicating with staff
CAFOD takes action both to provide staff with information on matters of concern to them as employees
and to achieve a common awareness of the financial and economic factors affecting CAFOD’s
performance and also to ensure their views are taken into account in making decisions. This includes
the publication of information through the CAFOD intranet called CAFODconnect, a weekly staff
information bulletin called Managua to Manilla and monthly staff briefings. All staff are regularly informed
and consulted about changes in developments within the organisation.

Dignity, diversity and equality policy
CAFOD believes in the intrinsic dignity of every person.
As set out in the CAFOD Code of Behaviour, CAFOD expects all staff, volunteers, partners and
consultants to conduct themselves in a manner that preserves the dignity, respect and equality of every
individual.
In line with the Vision, Mission and Values, and as a Catholic agency, the dignity of every human person,
as set out in Catholic social teaching, is an overriding principle of the way we work.
CAFOD gives full and fair consideration of applications for employment made by disabled persons,
having regard to their particular aptitudes and abilities, is committed to the continuing employment of,
and arranging training for employees who have become disabled persons while employed, and for
training, career development and promotion of disabled persons.
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Public benefit
The Trustees have taken account of the statutory reporting duty to illustrate how in practice the activities
of CAFOD meet the legal public benefit requirement. In this respect, the Trustees have noted and paid
due regard to all the Charity Commission’s statutory guidance that is relevant to our mission, and have
highlighted in this report examples of CAFOD’s activities which illustrate how our work fulfils its mission
and the significant benefits it brings to:




individuals and communities in poverty overseas, irrespective of their race, religion or creed
teachers, youth workers, students and pupils involved in teaching and learning about global
poverty and injustice and its causes
the Catholic Community in England and Wales in expressing its faith in action in response to
global poverty and injustice issues.

The Trustees give their time voluntarily and receive no private benefits from CAFOD.
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Statement of Trustees’ responsibilities
The Trustees are responsible for preparing the Trustees’ Report, which incorporates the directors’
report as required by company law, and accounts in accordance with applicable law and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
The law applicable to charities in England and Wales requires the Trustees to prepare accounts for
each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable company and
the group as at the end of the financial year of the income and expenditure of the group for that period.
In preparing these accounts, the Trustees are required to:






select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently
observe the methods and principles in the Statement of Recommended Practice “Accounting and
Reporting by Charities” (the Charities’ SORP)
make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent
state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to
any material departures disclosed and explained in the accounts; and
prepare the accounts on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
charity will continue in operation.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the charitable company and enable them to ensure that
the accounts comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the charitable company and the group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of financial information included on the
charity’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of
accounts may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
Insofar as each of the trustees of the charity at the date of approval of this report is aware there is no
relevant audit information (information needed by the charity’s auditor in connection with preparing the
audit report) of which the charity’s auditor is unaware. Each trustee has taken all of the steps that he/she
should have taken as a trustee in order to make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the charity’s auditor is aware of that information.
The Trustees’ Report, including the strategic report, was approved by the Trustees on 31st August 2017
and signed on their behalf by

The Right Reverend John Arnold – Chair of Trustees
31st August 2017
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Catholic
Agency for Overseas Development.

We have audited the financial statements of Catholic Agency for Overseas Development for the year
ended 31 March 2017 which comprise the Group Statement of Financial Activities, the Group and
Parent Charitable Company Balance Sheets, the Group Cash Flow Statement and the related notes
numbered 1 to 23.
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice).
This report is made solely to the charitable company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to
the charitable company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the charitable company and the company’s members as a body, for
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of trustees and auditor
As explained more fully in the Trustees’ Responsibilities Statement, the trustees (who are also the
directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us
to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the APB’s website at
www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/private.cfm.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:




give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and the parent charitable company’s affairs as
at 31 March 2017, and of the group’s incoming resources and application of resources, including
its income and expenditure, for the year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Catholic
Agency for Overseas Development.
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion based on the work undertaken in the course of our audit



the information given in the Strategic Report and the Trustees' Annual Report for the financial
year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements;
and
the Trustees’ Annual Report and Strategic Report have been prepared in accordance with
applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and parent company and its environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic report
or the trustees’ annual report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires
us to report to you if, in our opinion:





the parent charitable company has not kept adequate and sufficient accounting records, or returns
adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
the parent charitable company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting
records and returns; or
certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Tim Redwood
Senior Statutory Auditor
for and on behalf of
Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP
Statutory Auditor
London
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities
(incorporating an income and expenditure account)

for the year ended 31 March 2017
Unrestrricted
Funds
£’000

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
Funds
2017
£’000

Unrestricted
Funds
£’000

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
Funds
2016
£’000

23,649
3,565
42
142
27,398

7,886
14,743
19
22,648

31,535
18,308
42
161
50,046

23,248
4,613
41
217
28,119

12,456
12,504
18
24,978

35,704
17,117
41
235
53,097

5

5,680

180

5,860

5,649

94

5,743

5
5
5
5
5

15,802
4,814
2,012
2,457
30,765

11,565
9,719
56
133
21,653

27,367
14,533
2,068
2,590
52,418

16,705
4,725
2,111
2,706
31,896

8,887
16,425
43
59
25,508

25,592
21,150
2,154
2,765
57,404

(3,367)

995

(2,372)

(3,777)

(530)

(4,307)

-

69

69

-

(22)

(22)

(3,367)

1,064

(2,303)

(3,777)

(552)

(4,329)

Total funds brought forward

22,932

5,723

28,655

26,709

6,275

32,984

Total funds carried forward

19,565

6,787

26,352

22,932

5,723

28,655

Note
Income and endowments from:
Donations and legacies
Charitable Activities
Other trading activities
Investments
Total
Expenditure on:
Raising funds
Charitable activities:
International Development
Disaster Relief
Development education
Advocacy and campaigning
Total

2
3
4

Operating surplus/(deficit)
Net gains/(losses) on investments
Net income/(expenditure)

13
7/22

Reconciliation of funds:

CAFOD did not change any of its principal activities during the above financial years and there were no gains and
losses other than those included above. Restricted funds above include permanent endowment funds with a current
value of £525,426; see note 13. All of the charity’s income and expenditure continuing operations.
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2017
Group
£’000

2017
Company
£’000

2016
Group
£’000

2016
Company
£’000

10,539
687
3,991
15,217

10,539
687
3,991
15,217

10,752
409
3,996
15,157

10,752
409
3,996
15,157

17
3,350
11,288
5,455
20,110

17
3,350
11,288
5,455
20,110

25
3,776
17,083
3,044
23,928

3,829
17,083
3,016
23,928

(8,205)

(8,205)

(9,626)

(9,626)

Net current assets

11,905

11,905

14,302

14,302

Total assets less current liabilities

27,122

27,122

29,459

29,459

Note
Fixed assets
Tangible assets
Intangible assets
Investments

Current assets
Stock
Debtors
Short term cash deposits
Cash at bank and in hand

Current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

10
11
13

14

15

Pension scheme liability

17

(770)

(770)

(804)

(804)

Total net assets

21

26,352

26,352

28,655

28,655

19

525

525

456

456

19
19
19

293
5,686
283

293
5,686
283

563
5,599
(895)

563
5,599
(895)

20
20
20
21

5,692
3,880
9,993
26,352

5,692
3,880
9,993
26,352

5,702
7,263
9,967
28,655

5,702
7,263
9,967
28,655

The funds of the charity:
Endowment funds
Restricted income funds:
General donations and legacies
Emergency appeals
Income from charitable activities
Unrestricted funds:
Designated fixed asset fund
Designated programme fund
General funds
Total funds

The result for the financial year dealt within the financial statements of the parent Company was a deficit of
£2,303,000 (2016: deficit of £4,329,000).

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the trustees on 31st August 2017 and signed
on their behalf by:

The Right Reverend John Arnold Chair of the Trustees
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 March 2017

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

(3,263)

(943)

161
8
74
(86)
(278)
(121)

235
3
(119)
(157)
(38)

(3,384)

(981)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period

20,127

21,108

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period

16,743

20,127

Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities

22

Cash flows from investing activities
Dividends and interest from investments
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets
Proceeds from the sales of investments
Purchase of tangible fixed assets
Purchase of intangible fixed assets
Net cash provided used in investing activities

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting period
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2017
1. Accounting policies
(a) Basis of accounting
CAFOD is a charitable company limited by guarantee incorporated in the United Kingdom (company number
9387398, charity registration number 1160384) with the liability of members of £1 each. The registered office is:
Romero House, 55 Westminster Bridge Road, London SE1 7JB. The nature of the charity’s operations and principal
activities is described in the Trustees’ Report accompanying the Financial Statements.
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement
of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (Charities SORP (FRS102)), the
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS102), and applicable company and
charity law in the UK.
Having reviewed the financial position and future plans for the charity, the Trustees have identified no material
uncertainties related to events or conditions that cast significant doubt on the charity’s ability to continue its activities
for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt a going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements.
The charity is a public benefit entity as defined in FRS102.
(b) Basis of consolidation
The group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the charity and of its subsidiary undertaking,
the CAFOD Trading Company Limited. No separate Statement of Financial Activity or Cash Flow Statement are
presented for the parent charity, as permitted by s.408, Companies Act 2006 and FRS102 paras 1.8, 1.12(b)
respectively.
(c) Income
Unrestricted income is available for expenditure approved by the Board. Restricted income is available for
expenditure in accordance with the purpose specified by the donor.
Income is credited to the Statement of Financial Activities when entitlement can be demonstrated, receipt is
probable and the amount can be reliably measured. In respect of income from governments and other institutional
donors, entitlement is obtained when only administrative requirements exist and all disbursement and other
entitlement conditions are satisfied. Legacies are included in the Statement of Financial Activities at the earlier of
receipt and the date the estate accounts are approved or a distribution authorised by the executors.
Donations from supporters are accounted for when received.
(d) Expenditure
Expenditure is included in the Statement of Financial Activities when incurred and includes attributable input VAT
which cannot be recovered. Expenditure is categorised both by type (namely grants to partners, activity costs and
support costs) and by purpose (namely raising funds and charitable activities); an analysis of total expenditure by
type and by purpose is given in note 5.
Grants and programme payments:
Grants to third parties are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities when they have been approved and
where a binding commitment has been made to the partner organisation. Grants represent funds made available
to partner programmes and comprise either cash funds transferred to the partners or in kind provision of goods and
services procured on their behalf. Programme grants that have been approved but not yet disbursed at the balance
sheet date are carried forward as programme creditors in the balance sheet.
Programme payments are CAFOD managed programme activities made in support of partners.
Activity and support costs:
Activity costs include the costs of the trading company and the costs of all teams in CAFOD other than Finance,
Facilities, the Directorate, Governance, IT and People and Performance functions, which are classified as support
costs. Governance costs include the costs of internal and external audit, Board expenses and an apportionment of
the salary costs of the senior executive team, relating to time spent by them on the governance of CAFOD’s
activities.
Activity costs are attributed directly to expenditure purpose headings. Support costs are allocated to expenditure
purpose headings on the basis of the full time equivalent number of staff contributing towards each purpose. The
expenditure purpose headings are:
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Raising funds:
Fundraising trading costs: the costs incurred in trading activities;
Costs of generating voluntary income: the costs incurred in attracting voluntary income;
Charitable activities:
International development: work with poor and disadvantaged communities in the global South to overcome poverty
and bring about sustainable development and well-being;
Disaster relief: work to protect lives and relieve suffering during emergencies and reduce the risks to vulnerable
communities as a result of conflict and natural disasters;
UK Development education: work to raise understanding of the causes of poverty and injustice to inspire a
commitment to lasting change;
Advocacy and campaigning: challenging those with power to adopt policies and behaviour that promote social
justice and end poverty.
(e) Foreign currency translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.
Financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated at the
rate of exchange on that date and any gains/(losses) on exchange are credited/(debited) to the Statement of
Financial Activities. Foreign exchange forward contracts are included on the balance sheet at their fair value, and
realised and unrealised gains/(losses) are credited/(debited) to the Statement of Financial Activities.
(f) Pensions
CAFOD operates four contributory money purchase pension schemes. Scheme funds are independent of CAFOD's
finances and are administered by separate trustees for two schemes and by CAFOD trustees for two schemes.
CAFOD's contributions are charged in the Statement of Financial Activities in the year in which they are made.
One of the schemes that CAFOD is a member of is the Pensions Trust’s Growth Plan. The Growth Plan is a money
purchase pension scheme which also has some historical guarantees. This is a multi-employer pension scheme for
which it is not possible to identify separately the assets and liabilities of participating employers and, as such,
CAFOD’s regular payments in respect of this plan are charged in the Statement of Financial Activities on a defined
contribution basis. A liability is recognised for the present value of agreed additional contributions payable to fund
a deficit in this plan related to past service.
(g) Fixed assets
(i) Tangible assets
Tangible assets costing £1,500 or more are capitalised. Depreciation on assets is charged from the date of first
usage and provided on the straight line method at the following annual rates in order to write off each asset over its
estimated useful life:

Leasehold land and buildings (subject to annual impairment review): 1-2% on cost

Plant and machinery: over 15 years

Computers, office furniture and equipment and motor vehicles: 25% on cost
(ii) Intangible assets
Software development costs are recognised as internally generated intangible assets provided that:

there is certainty that it is technically feasible to complete the development activity so that it will be
available for future use;

there is the intention to complete the development activity and use it;

the organisation can use the intangible asset to generate probable future economic benefits;

adequate technical, financial and other resources are available to complete the development activity
and to use it; and,

the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development can be measured reliably.
Intangible assets costing £50,000 or more are capitalised.
Depreciation on intangible assets is charged from the date of first usage and provided on the straight line basis in
order to write off each intangible asset over its estimated useful life, from the date it is first brought into use.
(h) Investments
Investments are included on the balance sheet at their market value at the end of the financial year. Realised and
unrealised gains/(losses) are credited/(debited) to the Statement of Financial Activities in the year in which they
arise.
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(i)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include deposits repayable on demand without penalty. Short term money market
deposits, and fixed term cash deposits which do not meet this criterion are held under current assets as short term
deposits. Cash and bank deposits are stated at the cash amount.
(j)

Other financial assets and liabilities

Debtors and creditors are stated at the settlement amount after any applicable discounts.
(k) Fund accounting
Unrestricted income is available for expenditure approved by the Board. Restricted income is available for
expenditure in accordance with the purpose specified by the donor.
Designated funds comprise funds set aside out of unrestricted funds for specific future purposes.
General reserves represent those monies that are freely available for application towards achieving any charitable
purpose that falls within the charity's charitable objects.
Restricted funds comprise monies raised for, or their use restricted to, a specific purpose, or contributions subject
to conditions imposed by donors.
Endowment funds comprise monies that must be held indefinitely as capital. Income therefrom is credited to general
funds and applied for general purposes unless under the terms of the endowment such income must be used for
specific purposes in which case it is credited to restricted funds.
(l)

Operating leases

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease.
(m) Financial instruments
The charity has financial assets and financial liabilities of a kind that qualify as basic financial instruments. Financial
instruments are initially recognised at transaction value and subsequently measured at the present value of future
cash flows (amortised cost). Financial assets held at amortised cost comprise cash at bank and in hand, short term
cash deposits and the group’s debtors excluding prepayments. Financial liabilities held at amortised cost comprise
the group’s short and long term creditors excluding deferred income. Other than the pension scheme liability, no
discounting has been applied to these financial instruments on the basis that the periods over which amounts will
be settled are such that any discounting would be immaterial. The pension scheme liability will be settled over eight
years and five months from the balance sheet date and is discounted appropriately.
At the balance sheet date, the charity held financial assets at amortised cost of £23.8m (2016: £27.6m) and financial
liabilities at amortised cost of £9.0m (2016: £10.4m).
(n) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the charity’s accounting policies, Trustees are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects the current and future periods.
In the view of the Trustees, no assumptions concerning the future or estimation uncertainty affecting assets and
liabilities at the balance sheet date are likely to result in a material adjustment to their carrying amounts in the next
financial year.
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2. Income from donations and legacies
Unrestricted
Funds

General donations from supporters
Legacy income from supporters
Emergency donations from supporters
Emergency donations via DEC
Income from donations and legacies

£’000

Restricted
Funds
Funds
£’000

Total
Funds
2017
£’000

Total
Funds
2016
£’000

16,132
6,914
590
13
23,649

3,473
11
4,093
309
7,886

19,605
6,925
4,683
322
31,535

21,183
5,274
5,369
3,878
35,704

Emergency appeal donations from supporters includes income received from the Disasters Emergency Committee (DEC),
a group of 13 leading UK aid charities that come together in times of crisis.

3. Income from charitable activities

Caritas and other Catholic agencies (a)
Government grants (b)
Institutional and other grants (c)
Income from charitable activities

Unrestricted
Funds

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
Funds
2017
£’000

Total
Funds
2016
£’000

£’000
152
3,297
116
3,565

5,518
7,372
1,853
14,743

5,670
10,669
1,969
18,308

4,489
10,292
2,336
17,117

1
1
1
32
7
21
22
20
4
31
12
152

379
161
38
24
86
923
290
399
931
153
406
197
1,257
254
20
5,518

380
161
39
24
87
955
297
420
953
153
426
201
1,288
266
20
5,670

200
5
55
53
24
65
91
755
504
317
20
152
524
192
21
1,147
364
4,489

(a) Caritas and other Catholic agencies:
Caritas Australia
Caritas Austria
Caritas Germany
Caritas Italy
Caritas Japan
Caritas Korea
Caritas Aotearoa New Zealand
Caritas Norway
Caritas Spain
Caritas Switzerland
Caritas Taiwan
Catholic Relief Services
Development & Peace
Misereor
Scottish Catholic International Aid Fund
Sécours Catholique
Trócaire
Vastenaktie
Others
Income from Caritas and other Catholic agencies:
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3. Income from charitable activities (continued)

(b) Government grants:
UK Government, DFID:
Programme partnership agreement
UK Aid Matched Funding
Sierra Leone
Other
DFID / Government of Ireland Sierra Leone
European Union
European Community Humanitarian Office
Government of Guernsey
Government of Isle of Man
Government of Jersey
United Nations agencies
Government grants

(c) Institutional and other grants:
Big Lottery Fund Grant
Christian Aid
Comic Relief
HIVOS
Islamic Relief
Norwegian Church Aid
Norwegian Church Aid (in kind)
START
The Mott Foundation
Viiv Healthcare – Positive Action for Children
Others
Institutional and other grants

Unrestricted
Funds

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
Funds
2017
£’000

Total
Funds
2016
£’000

£’000

3,133
26
80
32
26
3,297

3,439
179
147
1,189
816
74
149
1,379
7,372

3,133
3,439
179
173
1,269
848
74
149
1,405
10,669

4,178
577
946
263
846
1,877
20
117
99
1,369
10,292

Unrestricted
Funds

Restricted
Funds

£’000

£’000

Total
Funds
2017
£’000

Total
Funds
2016
£’000

2
110
4
116

370
32
5
2
193
44
972
72
126
37
1,853

372
32
5
2
193
44
1,082
76
126
37
1,969

218
40
15
10
266
1,680
65
42
2,336

There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to government grants existing at the year end.

4. Income from investments

Interest receivable
Dividends receivable
Income from investments
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Unrestricted
Funds

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
Funds
2017
£’000

Total
Funds
2016
£’000

£’000
142
142

19
19

142
19
161

217
18
235
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5. Expenditure
Grants &
programme
payments
£’000

Activity
costs

Support
costs

Total
2017

Total
2016

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

-

9
5,147
5,156

704
704

9
5,851
5,860

15
5,728
5,743

International development
Disaster relief
UK Development education
Advocacy and campaigning
Charitable activities:

17,761
9,960
46
177
27,944

6,404
3,344
1,731
2,064
13,543

3,202
1,229
291
349
5,071

27,367
14,533
2,068
2,590
46,558

25,592
21,150
2,154
2,765
51,661

Total expenditure

27,944

18,699

5,775

52,418

57,404

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

1,536
1,532
989
720
553
445
5,775

1,688
1,527
321
875
803
888
488
6,590

247
36
78
76
8
445

252
80
84
65
7
488

Fundraising trading costs
Costs of generating voluntary income
Raising funds:

Information technology
HR and organisational development
Pension deficit contributions increase
Financial management
Premises and facilities
Strategic leadership
Governance (analysed below)
Support costs:
Senior management
Legal and professional services
Internal audit
External audit
Board training and meeting costs
Governance costs:
6. Grants and programme payments

Grants and programme payments are made up of; 640 grants to third parties totalling £26.77m, plus payments made in
support of partners for programme activities totalling £1.59m, less exchange gains of £0.42m. Details of grants to third
parties and partner payments are provided in a Report of Grants for 2016/17 published on CAFOD’s website
http://cafod.org.uk.

Analysed by activity:
Capacity strengthening
Emergency preparedness, respond and recovery
Governance accountability and transparency
HIV/AIDS
Livelihoods resilience and environment
Peace and reconciliation
Realised (gains) / losses on Foreign Currency
Unrealised (gains) on Foreign Currency contracts
Total grants and programme payments
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2017
Number

2017
£’000

2016
Number

2016
£’000

136
113
139
39
154
59
640
-

2,298
10,010
3,280
2,055
9,024
1,695
28,362
(339)
(79)

88
109
147
59
124
44
571
-

1,312
16,154
3,603
2,619
6,418
1,316
31,422
74
(165)

640

27,944

571

31,331
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Analysed by region
Africa (a)
Latin America and Caribbean (b)
Asia, Middle East and Europe (c)
Global, policy and education
Realised (gains) / losses on Foreign Currency
Unrealised (gains) on Foreign Currency contracts
Total grants and programme payments

2017
Number

2017
£’000

2016
Number

2016
£’000

340
118
137
45
640
-

18,445
3,618
5,383
916
28,362
(339)
(79)

269
119
122
61
571
-

17,067
3,586
10,100
669
31,422
74
(165)

640

27,944

571

31,331

See note 16 on Forward foreign currency contracts.

(a) Africa
Burundi
Democratic Republic of Congo
Djibouti
Eritrea
Ethiopia
Kenya
Liberia
Malawi
Mozambique
Niger
Nigeria
Rwanda
Sierra Leone
South Sudan
Sudan
Swaziland
Uganda
Zambia
Zimbabwe
Multi-Country
Africa

(b) Latin America & Caribbean
Bolivia
Brazil
Chile
Colombia
Dominican Republic
Ecuador
El Salvador
Guatemala
Haiti
Honduras
Nicaragua
Peru
Multi-country
Latin America and Caribbean
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2017
no. of grants
1
66
1
6
9
36
7
5
10
14
10
2
26
36
23
6
10
18
47
7
340
2017
no. of grants
16
28
15
1
1
4
6
2
4
8
13
20
118

2017
£000
18
2,495
13
1,885
1,885
1,281
331
179
349
359
287
36
971
1,767
2,344
168
618
782
2,572
105
18,445

2016
£000
38
1,026
1,637
973
1,001
379
208
329
309
163
38
2,310
1,622
2,451
174
493
646
2,110
1,160
17,067

2017
£000
349
1,192
496
20
30
119
226
83
86
335
367
315
3,618

2016
£000
283
1,099
13
614
147
293
115
267
378
377
3,586

Catholic Agency for Overseas Development

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2017
(c) Asia and Middle East and Europe
Afghanistan
Bangladesh
Cambodia
Greece
India
Iraq
Israel
Jordan
Lebanon
Myanmar
Nepal
Pakistan
Philippines
Serbia
Sri Lanka
Syria
Vanuatu
Yemen
West Bank and Gaza
Multi-country
Asia, Middle East and Europe

2017
no. of grants
10
12
16
3
2
1
6
3
8
21
10
8
16
6
2
11
2
137

2017
£000
354
856
425
250
103
50
166
414
358
432
111
741
315
255
230
299
24
5,383

2016
£000
101
678
260
180
20
109
150
218
666
4,658
89
1,839
80
327
185
14
407
119
10,100

7. Net income/(expenditure)
2017
£’000

2016
£’000

299
(8)
309
76

405
(3)
296
65

33
38
71

33
27
60

Audit of CAFOD Trading (UK, Crowe Clark Whitehill)

3

2

Other non-audit services (UK, Crowe Clark Whitehill)

2

3

76

65

Net income/(expenditure) is stated after charging/(crediting):
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets
Profit on sale of tangible fixed assets
Operating leases: land and buildings
Auditors’ remuneration
Auditors’ remuneration:
Audit of CAFOD
UK (primary auditor, Crowe Clark Whitehill)
Overseas (secondary auditors)

Auditors’ remuneration

8. Taxation
CAFOD is a registered charity and therefore is not liable to income tax or corporation tax on income derived from its
charitable activities. All of its income falls within the various exemptions available to registered charities.
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9. Employees, trustees and volunteers

Generating funds
International development
Disaster relief
UK Development education
Advocacy and campaigning
Total
Salaries
Employer’s social security contributions
Employer’s pension contributions
Total

2017
Employees
average
full-time
equivalent

2017
Employees
cost

2016
Employees
cost

£’000

2016
Employees
average
full-time
equivalent

86
215
82
35
42
460

3,728
6,637
3,227
1,645
1,880
17,117

86
205
83
38
43
455

3,736
6,538
3,349
1,702
1,980
17,305

14,373
1,320
1,424
17,117

£’000

14,608
1,287
1,410
17,305

The total average number (by headcount) of employees in the year was 477 (2016: 470).
Included in the above are costs relating to redundancy and compensation for loss of office of £152,000 (2016: £247,000).
The number of employees whose emoluments (excluding employer’s pension contributions) amounted to over £60,000 in
the year was as follows:

£60,001 - £70,000
£70,001 - £80,000
£90,001 - £100,000

2017
Number
6
4
1

2016
Number
1
5
1

Total remuneration and benefits received during the year by CAFOD’s highest paid member of staff (the CAFOD Director)
was £93,260 (2016: £92,337) salary, £11,751 (2016: £11,623) employer’s national insurance and £16,320 (2016: £16,159)
employer’s pension contribution. The total remuneration and benefits received during the year by the remaining 4 members
of the key management personnel for CAFOD who together with the CAFOD Director form the Business management
cluster was £276,473 (2016: £257.387) salary, £32,996 (2016: £31,337) employer’s national insurance and £27,647 (2016:
£29,694) employer’s pension contribution.
Trustees
The Trustees do not receive any remuneration for their services. CAFOD paid the costs of travel for three trustees (2016:
two trustees) to attend quarterly board meetings, the accommodation of all trustees at the annual residential board meeting,
two trustees to attend meetings on behalf of CAFOD (2016: no trustees) and the costs for two trustees (2016: two trustees)
to visit CAFOD programmes during the year. Together, this cost a total of £6,920 (2016: £8,922).
Volunteers
In addition to employed staff and trustees, CAFOD relied on the services of 3,376 (2016: 2,667) parish-based volunteers,
223 (2016: 193) school volunteers and several thousand other volunteers engaged in a range of volunteer activity such as
campaigning, fundraising, media and youth work.
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10. Tangible fixed assets
Group and company

Leasehold
land and
buildings
£’000

Office
equipment

Motor
vehicles

£’000

£’000

Total
tangible
fixed assets
£’000

11,533
11,533

536
26
562

774
60
(15)
819

12,843
86
(15)
12,914

1,023
215
1,238

416
60
476

652
24
(15)
661

2,091
299
(15)
2,375

Net book value at 31 March 2017

10,295

86

158

10,539

Net book value at 31 March 2016

10,510

120

122

10,752

Cost at 1 April 2016
Additions
Disposals
Cost at 31 March 2017
Depreciations at 1 April 2016
Charge for the year
On disposals
Depreciation at 31 March 2017

As at 31 March 2017, CAFOD had capital commitments of £nil (2016: £nil). Leasehold land and buildings includes Romero
House (net book value at 31 March 2017: £10.0m – being £8.9m for the land and building and £1m for the plant and
machinery) which is used as CAFOD’s head office and The Stableyard (net book value at 31 March 2017: £0.3m). The
Stableyard was occupied by CAFOD until 2010 and leased to another international development charity at less than market
value until March 2017.
11. Intangible fixed assets
Group and company

£’000

Total
intangible
fixed assets
£’000

409
278
687

409
278
687

-

-

Net book value at 31 March 2017

687

687

Net book value at 31 March 2016

409

409

Cost at 1 April 2016
Additions
Cost at 31 March 2017
Depreciations at 1 April 2016
Charge for the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2017

Software
development

Intangible assets relates to the development of CAFOD’s supporter relations management system which was not complete
at 31 March 2017 and so not in use in the year and so the asset has not yet been amortised.
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12. Operating lease commitments
At 31 March 2017, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of operating
leases for land and buildings were:
2017
£’000

2016
£’000

34
36
70

24
87
111

Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive
Later than five years
Operating lease commitments
13. Investments held as fixed assets

Sterling deposits
Permanent endowment fund
Investments in subsidiary undertakings
Investments held as fixed assets

2017
Group
£’000

2017
Company
£’000

2016
Group
£’000

2016
Company
£’000

3,466
525
3,991

3,466
525
3,991

3,540
456
3,996

3,540
456
3,996

The permanent endowment fund is invested in CCLA Charities Ethical Investment Fund Income Units at a historic cost of
£449,024. The movement on investments during the year was:

Market value at 1 April 2016
Unrealised gain
Market value at 31 March 2017

Group
£’000

Company
£’000

456
69
525

456
69
525

CAFOD, the charity, owns the entire £3 issued share capital of The CAFOD Trading Company Limited (“CAFOD Trading”),
registered in England and Wales (company number 989846). The principal activity of CAFOD Trading has been to carry
out commercial activities for the benefit of the charity. CAFOD Trading ceased to trade on 28th February 2017. The
registered office is Romero House, 55 Westminster Bridge Road, London SE1 7JB.
The turnover of the CAFOD Trading Company for the year to 28th February 2017 was £30,433 (2016: £37,883). All the
profits of the company, which would otherwise be liable to corporation tax, are payable under Gift Aid to the charity, CAFOD.
The gross payment for the year therefore amounted to £8,795 (2016: £14,934). This payment is considered to be a
charitable contribution. At the year end there was £nil (2016: £75,028) owing from the CAFOD Trading Company to the
charity. The net assets of the trading company at 31 March 2017 were £nil (2016: £3).
14. Debtors

Interest receivable
Taxation recoverable
Accrued income
Prepayments
Other debtors
Forward foreign currency contracts (note 16)
Owed by subsidiary undertaking
Debtors
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2017
Group
£’000

2017
Company
£’000

2016
Group
£’000

2016
Company
£’000

26
1,111
1,549
293
292
79
3,350

26
1,111
1,549
293
292
79
3,350

70
752
2,235
336
218
165
3,776

70
752
2,235
336
199
165
72
3,829
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Included in accrued income above is an amount of £285,000 (2016: £433,000) relating to legacies. As at 31 March 2017,
CAFOD also had entitlement to a number of legacies from estates for which the administration had yet to be finalised. The
future income from these legacies is estimated at £3,783,000 (2016: £3,412,000).

15. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Programme creditors
Taxation and social security
Other creditors and accruals
Interest free loans from supporters
Creditors

2017
Group
£’000

2017
Company
£’000

2016
Group
£’000

2016
Company
£’000

6,759
441
922
83
8,205

6,759
441
922
83
8,205

7,826
474
1,238
88
9,626

7,826
474
1,238
88
9,626

Other creditors and accruals include pension contributions of £142,000 (2016: £127,000).
Programme creditors represent grants approved that are yet to be paid to partners. Some grants for partners are approved
in principle for two or three years. Second and third year grants represent planned future commitments, but are not
recognised as a liability when they are approved, as payment is conditional upon satisfactory progress. As at 31 March
2017 planned future commitments under formal multi-year funding cycle approvals amounted to £1.3m (2016: £4.4m).

16. Forward foreign currency contracts
CAFOD mitigates the risk of having to change or cut planned activities because of the financial implications of a rapid
change in the value of sterling against US Dollar and other currencies. To achieve this CAFOD purchases a proportion of
US Dollars requirements on forward contracts. The fair value of these contracts is calculated at the balance sheet date by
comparison between the rate implicit in the contract and the exchange rate at that date. The unrealised gain on these
contracts at 31 March 2017 was £79,000, which has been included in debtors and grant expenditure (2016: unrealised
gain £165,000, included in debtors and grant expenditure).
The contracts are to purchase US Dollars (USD) and sell Sterling (GBP) for a period of up to 12 months in duration, at
USD/GBP rates between 1.24 and 1.47. At the balance sheet date, a purchase value of USD 5.55 million remained on
these contracts representing approximately 40% of the anticipated currency approvals plus expense commitments for the
coming year.
17. Pensions
The charity operates four contributory money purchase pension schemes. Scheme funds are independent of the charity
and are administered by CAFOD member trustees for two schemes and separate trustees for the other two schemes. For
these schemes, CAFOD paid contributions at the basic rate of 10 per cent during the year and members paid contributions
at a basic rate of 5 per cent during the year. For members with more than 10 years’ service, CAFOD paid 12.5 per cent
and also matched any additional members’ contributions up to a maximum of 17.5 per cent in total.
One of the schemes that CAFOD participates in is the Pensions Trust’s Growth Plan, a multi-employer pension plan which
also has some historical guarantees. As at the balance sheet date there were 256 active members of the Growth Plan (31
March 2016: 186). CAFOD intends to continue to offer membership of the Growth Plan (Series 4) to its employees along
with the Pensions Trust’s Flexible Retirement Plan.
Contributions paid into the Growth Plan up to and including September 2001 were converted to defined amounts of pension
payable from normal retirement date. From October 2001 contributions were invested in personal funds which have a
capital guarantee and which are converted to pension on retirement, either within the Growth Plan or by the purchase of
an annuity. Current contributions to Series 4 of the Growth Plan are entirely money purchase.
The Trustee of the Growth Plan commissions an actuarial valuation every three years to determine the funding position of
the Plan by comparing the assets with the past service liabilities at the valuation date and the rules of the Plan give the
Trustee the power to require employers to pay additional contributions in order to ensure that the statutory funding objective
under the Pensions Act 2004 is met.
The triennial actuarial valuation results at 30 September 2014 were finalised during the year ended 31 March 2016. The
valuation of the Plan was performed by a professionally qualified actuary. The market value of the Growth Plan’s assets at

56

Catholic Agency for Overseas Development

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2017
the valuation date was £793.4 million and the Plan’s technical provisions (i.e. past service liabilities) were £969.9 million,
which is equivalent to a funding level of 82 per cent. The shortfall in assets compared with the value of liabilities was £176.5
million (£148 million as at 30 September 2011).
The increase in deficit resulting from the valuation resulted in a revised recovery plan being issued by the Actuary. The
length of the recovery plan was extended by 2 years and 5 months beyond the initial 10-year plan, and currently extends
to 31 August 2025. Contribution amounts were also adjusted depending on the Actuary’s calculations of each employer’s
share of the liabilities. CAFOD’s additional contribution was revised to £90,169 for the year ending 31 March 2017, and
contributions for the following eight years and five months will be this sum increased by 3% compound per year.
CAFOD’s obligation to pay additional contributions over the period of a recovery plan are recognised as a specific balance
sheet provision. The movements on this provision are as follows:
2017
Group
£’000

2017
Company
£’000

2016
Group
£’000

2016
Company
£’000

804
(90)
56
770

804
(90)
56
770

660
(75)
232
(13)
804

660
(75)
232
(13)
804

Provision at start of year
Payments made during the year
Increase during the year
Discount rate adjustment
Provision at end of year

The Trustees have determined that the appropriate discount rate to apply to the future cash liability is that published by
actuaries from time to time for single employer pension schemes. This rate was 2.69% at 31 March 2017 (3.5% 31 March
2016).
For the year ended 31 March 2018, CAFOD’s regular pension contributions for all its pension arrangements are estimated
to be £1,400,000 and its additional contribution to the Pensions Trust Growth Plan will be £92,874.
18. Handling funds and providing services for other agencies
CAFOD provides accounting and company secretarial support to Crosby Support Limited, an independent company
(number 2949213) formed by CAFOD supporters to operate a shop in Waterloo, Liverpool. The shop acts as a focal point
for CAFOD supporters in the Liverpool area to meet and participate actively in CAFOD’s charitable aims, vision and values,
locally. Crosby Support Limited has its registered office at CAFOD’s head office, Romero House.
Since it began in 1993, Crosby Support Limited has donated £705,000 to CAFOD.

19. Restricted funds
Group and company

Balance
Apr-16
£’000

Income

Expenditure

Gains

£’000

£’000

£’000

456

-

-

Restricted income funds:
General donations and legacies
Emergency appeals donations
Income from charitable activities
Investment income

563
5,599
(895)
-

3,484
4,402
14,743
19

Restricted fund movement 2016/17

5,723

22,648

Endowment funds:
Sr. Laura Tanti Foundation
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Transfers

Balance
Mar-17
£’000

69

-

525

(3,754)
(4,315)
(13,565)
(19)

-

-

293
5,686
283
-

(21,653)

69

-

6,787
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Group and company

Balance
Apr-15
£’000

Income

Expenditure

Gains

Transfers

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

Balance
Mar-16
£’000

478

-

-

(22)

-

456

Restricted income funds:
General donations and legacies
Emergency appeals donations
Income from charitable activities
Investment income

577
4,809
411
-

3,971
8,485
12,504
18

(3,953)
(7,735)
(13,802)
(18)

-

(32)
40
(8)
-

563
5,599
(895)
-

Restricted fund movement 2015/16

6,275

24,978

(25,508)

(22)

-

5,723

Endowment funds:
Sr. Laura Tanti Foundation

The Permanent Endowment relates to the Sister Laura Tanti Foundation for which CAFOD has received cumulative
donations as at 31 March 2017 of £421,155 (2016: £421,155) held under trust deeds. The Trustees of CAFOD hold this
amount and its income in trust and will apply the income for the benefit of the poor as stipulated.
The balances on restricted funds (where in surplus) represent those amounts received from donors for specified purposes
or regions that had not been expended at the balance sheet date and (where in deficit) those monies granted to partners
which not yet been expended by the recipient. As at 31 March 2017 the balances held were for the following purposes:

Africa Programme
Asia, Middle East and Europe Programme
Latin America Programme
General Programme
Permanent endowment
Restricted funds

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

2,784
3,611
74
(207)
525
6,787

1,319
4,502
47
(601)
456
5,723

For programme grants, the timing of recognising funds and spending on programmes activities varies, with some
programmes in surplus (with grants recognised in advance of being spent) and some in deficit (with funds recognised after
being spent). The balance of funds from income from charitable activities at 31 March 2017, shown net above, comprises:

Programme grants in surplus
Programme grants in deficit
Restricted funds

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

8,523
(1,736)
6,787

7,830
(2,107)
5,723

20. Unrestricted funds
Group and company

Balance
Apr-16
£’000

Income

Expenditure

Transfers

£’000

£’000

£’000

Balance
Mar-17
£’000

Designated funds:
Fixed asset fund
Programme fund

5,702
7,263

-

(3,383)

(10)
-

5,692
3,880

General funds:
Stabilisation fund
Unallocated reserve

9,000
967

27,398

(27,382)

10

9,000
993

22,932

27,398

(30,765)

-

19,565

Movement on unrestricted 2016/17
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Group and company

Balance
Apr-15
£’000

Income

Expenditure

Transfers

£’000

£’000

£’000

Balance
Mar-16
£’000

Designated funds:
Fixed asset fund
Programme fund

5,830
9,683

-

(4,873)

(128)
2,453

5,702
7,263

General funds:
Stabilisation fund
Unallocated reserve

9,000
2,196

28,119

(27,023)

(2,325)

9,000
967

26,709

28,119

(31,896)

-

22,932

Movement on unrestricted 2015/16

Designated fixed assets fund:
This fund represents the net book value at the balance sheet date of unrestricted tangible and intangible fixed assets, other
than those covered by the stabilisation fund, as explained below. This fund is not therefore available for current expenditure,
as the assets are used in the day to day operation of the charity.
Designated programme fund:
This represents available funds which the trustees have designated for expenditure on specific programme activities within
the detailed budget for the coming years.
General funds:
General funds are unrestricted funds in hand, over and above those set aside for designated purposes. These are
generated as planned or because more general income has been received than was expected or because budgeted
expenditure has not been incurred. The Trustees have established a policy to spend any general reserves, in excess of
the target level (the free reserves), on CAFOD’s programme and partners promptly, taking the opportunity to meet existing
needs or invest for the future, whilst ensuring that any further commitments which the expenditure generates are
sustainable.
The Trustees have established a desired stabilisation fund, to limit any potential disruption associated with the financial
risks CAFOD faces from its operations. Based upon a risk assessed as a shortfall of 10 to 15 per cent in the budgeted
general income and the need for two years to adjust programmes, the Trustees have established the target level of the
stabilisation fund at 20 to 30 per cent of the planned annual general income for the coming years, which equates to a range
of £6 million to £9 million. The balance of general funds over and above that recorded in the Stabilisation fund are included
in an unallocated reserve with the intention of being expended in furtherance of CAFOD’s objects as soon as practicable.
When the construction of Romero House, CAFOD’s head office, was completed at a cost of just under £11 million, around
half of this cost was funded from selling the previous head office and the remainder from using cash already held as the
stabilisation fund. The Trustees have agreed to hold £5.5 million of this stabilisation fund in property (representing 50% of
the original build cost of Romero House) on the understanding that if CAFOD ever needs to utilise these funds then it will
take out a loan mortgaged on the new offices to release the necessary cash. CAFOD's bankers have signified their
willingness in principle to provide such a loan. The current market value of Romero House is significantly in excess of the
historic cost.
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21. Analysis of net assets between funds
Group and company

Pension
provision

£’000

Net
current
assets
£’000

£’000

Total
net
assets
£’000

-

525

-

-

525

-

-

293
5,686
283

-

293
5,686
283

5,692
-

-

3,880

-

5,692
3,880

5,534
-

3,466
-

1,763

(770)

9,000
993

Total net assets at 31st March 2017

11,226

3,991

11,905

(770)

26,352

Group and company

Fixed
assets

Investments

Pension
provision

£’000

£’000

Net
current
assets
£’000

£’000

Total
net
assets
£’000

-

456

-

-

456

-

-

563
5,599
(895)

-

563
5,599
(895)

5,701
-

-

1
7,263

-

5,702
7,263

5,460
-

3,540
-

1,771

(804)

9,000
967

11,161

3,996

14,302

(804)

28,655

Endowment funds:
Sr. Laura Tanti Foundation
Restricted income funds:
General donations
Emergency appeals
Income from charitable activities
Designated funds:
Fixed asset fund
Programme fund
General funds:
Stabilisation fund
Unallocated reserve

Endowment funds:
Sr. Laura Tanti Foundation
Restricted income funds:
General donations
Emergency appeals
Income from charitable activities
Designated funds:
Fixed asset fund
Programme fund
General funds:
Stabilisation fund
Unallocated reserve
Total net assets at 31st March 2016

Fixed
assets

Investments

£’000

22. Reconciliation of net income/(expenditure) to net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities

Net income/(expenditure)
Depreciation
(Profit)/loss on disposal of fixed assets
(Income) from investments
(Gains)/losses on investments
(Increase)/decrease in stock
(Increase)/decrease in debtors
Increase/(decrease) in Pension Scheme Liability
Increase/(decrease) in creditors
Net cash (used in) operating activities
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2017
£’000

2016
£’000

(2,303)
299
(8)
(161)
(69)
8
426
(34)
(1,421)
(3,263)

(4,329)
405
(3)
(235)
22
(1)
(319)
144
3,373
(943)
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23. Analysis of changes in cash and cash equivalents

Short term cash deposits
Cash at bank and in hand
Cash and cash equivalent

61

Opening
balance
£’000

Movement
£’000

Closing
balance
£’000

17,083
3,044
20,127

(5,795)
2,411
(3,384)

11,288
5,455
16,743
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